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Preface

Seeing the Forest for the Trees

Accounting is move than just vecovding business events. It is a powerful tool for invest-
ors, managers, and decision makers. It is a common and powerful tool in every business.
This is even more true for the majority of business students who may never see a journal
entry in their entire professional careers. Using Financial Accounting Information, 10e is
written for these students—people who may not become accountants but still need to
understand why accounting is important.

Connecting to the Big Picture

By demonstrating that accounting is an important decision-making tool, Porter/
Norton’s Using Financial Accounting Information, 10e helps students see the big pic-
ture and understand how accounting is more than recording a series of events. Students
who understand why accounting is important are more motivated to learn and succeed.

This text uses a variety of methods to connect students to the big picture. First, a
hallmark of this text has always been emphasizing why accounting is important through
the use of financial statements and other data for real-world company examples, chapter
openers, and end-of-chapter material, giving students the opportunity to use that data to
apply what they’re learning.

This emphasis is continued through the text’s unique transaction model. Each transac-
tion in the text and the solutions manual is notated using a two-part element that focuses
on the relationships between accounts, their increases and decreases, and the resulting artic-
ulation of the financial statements.

This style provides instructors with maximum flexibility in teaching these key concepts.

1. This element shows how each transaction affects the income
statement and the balance sheet, with key additional information in an active learn-
ing format. Students learn to Identify and Analyze:

e The type of business activity—operating, investing, or financing.

e The accounts affected by the transaction.

e The financial statement(s) affected by the transaction—balance sheet, income
statement, or both.

2. This element shows how each transaction affects the
accounting equation, the balance sheet, the income statement, and stockholders’ equity.

Identify ACTIVITY: Operating
@ and ACCOUNTS: Accounts Receivable Increase  Service Revenue Increase

Analyze STATEMENT(S): Bal. Sheet and |

Balance Sheet Income Statement
STOCKHOLDERS' < NET
ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY : REVENUES —  EXPENSES = INCOME

@ Accounts 1,000 Service 1,000

Receivable 1,000 : Revenue 1,000

This integrated form of notation has benefits for both students and instructors:

e It provides a clear view of how transactions aftect the balance sheet.
e Its separation of balance sheet and income statement sides differentiates these two
equations and shows how the income statement elements are affected.

Xi



Xii

Preface

Its arrow format better communicates the relationship between net income and
stockholders’ equity.

When a transaction includes a contra account, this form explains clearly the effect of
this account on the equation.

This model is extended into the end-of-chapter material and CengageNOWv2™. In
CengageNOWv2, students are also expected to demonstrate that they understand the
link between transactions and financial statements—consistent with the text.

Other features throughout the book help students make the connection and see the

big picture:

Focus on highly recognizable companies such as Chipotle, Panera Bread, Nike, and
many others draws students into the chapter.

Financial statements and notes from Chipotle and Panera Bread allow students to
apply the accounting models they’re learning to real financial data from two compa-
nies in the same industry.

The real-world flavor that demonstrates how accounting can be used to make
decisions continues in the end-of-chapter activities. Decision Cases ask students to
read and interpret financial statements:

DECISION CASES

Reading and Interpreting Financial Statements

Decision Case 4-1 Comparing Two Companies in the Same Industry: LO3
Chipotle and Panera Bread

Refer to the financial information for Chipotle and Panera Bread reproduced at the back of ﬁ
the book for the information needed to answer the following questions.

Required REAL WORLD

1. Locate the note in each company’s annual report included in its Form 10-K for the 2015
year in which it discusses revenue recognition. How does each company describe the point at
which it recognizes revenue from customers? Are there any significant differences in the
organizations’ revenue recognition policies?

2. What dollar amount does Chipotle report for accounts receivable on its most recent balance
sheet? What percent of the company’s total current assets are comprised of accounts receivable?
What is the dollar amount of Panera Bread’s trade accounts receivable on its most recent bal-
ance sheet? What percent of total current assets is comprised of accounts receivable? For which
company does its accounts receivable constitute a higher percentage of its total current assets?

Each chapter highlights a focus company and real company information is used
throughout the narrative and end-of-chapter activities to help students develop their
analytical skills.

CONNECT TO THE
REAL WORLD

The note from page 43 of Nordstrom’s Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended January 30, 2016, explains that gift card
liabilities are included in other current liabilities. The gift card
liability is $327 million at the end of 2015 and $286 million at the
end of 2014. Refer to Nordstrom’s partial balance sheet shown in
the chapter opener. What percentage of total current liabilities is
made up of gift card liabilities at the end of 2015 and 2014?

(See answers on p. 205.)

NORDSTROM
READING THE BALANCE SHEET

e Connect to the Real World features ask students to
read and interpret the financial statements of the chap-
ter’s focus company, applying what they have learned in
the chapter.
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NEWHOW WILL I USE
ACCOUNTING:? feature
demonstrates relevance by
providing students with
examples of how marketing,
sales, and management pro-
fessionals use accounting in
their careers.

How Will I Use ACCOUNTING?

Inventory is the lifeblood of all businesses that sell products
and chances are you will work for one of them at some time
during your career. As a salesperson, you need to track in-
ventory levels and know when to re-order merchandise. As a
store manager, you need to evaluate the profitability of prod-
uct lines and monitor how quickly inventory is turned over.
Inventory matters to everyone in a business, not just the
accountants.

The Ratio Analysis Model guides students
through formulating a question about

a real company, and then calculating,
comparing, and interpreting ratios. Stu-
dents will identify relevant financial infor-
mation, analyze that information, and
make better business decisions based on
what they uncover — powerfully demon-
strating the relevance and importance of
accounting.

A. The Ratio Analysis Model

1. Formulate the Question
How many times a year does the company turn over its accounts receivable?

2. Gather the Information from the Financial Statements
To calculate a company’s accounts receivable turnover ratio, it is essential to know its
net credit sales and the average balance in accounts receivable:

®  Net credit sales: From the income statement
®  Average accounts receivable: From the balance sheet at the end of the two most
recent years

3. Calculate the Ratio
Net Credit Sales

Accounts Receivable Turnover =

Average Accounts Receivable

Apple Inc.
Partial Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions)
Years Ended
ptember 26, ptember 27, September 28,
2015 2014 2013
Net sales — $233,715 $182,795 $170,910
Cost of sales 140,089 112,258 106,606
Gross margin $ 93,626 $ 70,637 $ 64,304

Apple Inc.

Partial Consolidated Balance Sheets (in millions)

September 26, 2015 September 27, 2014

Current assets:
Accounts receivable, less allowandes

of $82 and $86, respectively $ 16,849 $17,460
: —> $233,715*
Accounts Receivable Turnover = ———— 4= 13.6times
$17,154.5

*Assuming all sales are on credit.

Average accounts receivable less
allowances = ($16,849 + $17,460)/2 = $17,154.5

4. Compare the Ratio with Other Ratios
Ratios are of no use in a vacuum. It is necessary to compare them with prior years and
with competitors.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE TURNOVER RATIO

Apple Inc. Hewlett-Packard
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
September 26, 2015 September 27, 2014 October 31, 2015 October 31, 2014
13.6 times 12.0 times 7.6 times** 7.5 times**

**Based on ""Products and Services Revenues.”
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5. Interpret the Ratios

In fiscal year 2015, Apple Inc. turned over its accounts receivable an average of 13.6
times. This is faster than the turnover in the prior year, and the turnover for both years is
quicker than the ratios for its competitor, Hewlett-Packard. An alternative way to look
at a company’s efficiency in managing its accounts receivable is to calculate the number
of days, on average, that accounts receivables are outstanding. This measure is called
number of days’ sales in receivables and is calculated as follows for Apple Inc. in
2015, assuming 360 days in a year:

Number of Days in the Period
Accounts Receivable Turnover Ratio
_ 360
" 136
= 26 days

Number of Days’ Sales in Receivables =

This measure tells us that it took Apple Inc. 26 days or less than a month on average
to collect its accounts receivable.

The Business Decision Model moves a step beyond ratios by formulating a question
as a user of financial information, gathering and analyzing the necessary information,
making a decision, and then monitoring that decision. This framework, integrated
throughout the text, provides students with models for honing their analysis and deci-
sion-making skills using real company information in a relevant, applicable context.

B. The Business Decision Model

1. Formulate the Question
If you were a banker, would you loan money to Apple Inc.?

2. Gather Information from the Financial Statements and Other Sources
This information will come from a variety of sources, not limited to but including:

e The balance sheet provides information about liquidity, the income statement
regarding profitability, and the statement of cash flows on inflows and outflows
of cash.

e The outlook for the computer industry, including consumer trends, foreign markets,
labor issues, and other factors.

e The outlook for the economy in general.

e Alternative uses for the money.

3. Analyze the Information Gathered

e Compare Apple Inc.’s accounts receivable turnover ratio in (A) above with Hewlett-
Packard as well as with industry averages.

e Look at trends over time in the accounts receivable turnover ratios.

e Look at trends in net income over time as an indication of the ability to control
expenses other than cost of goods sold.

* Review projections for the economy and the industry.

4. Make the Decision
Taking into account all of the various sources of information, decide either to

e Loan money to Apple Inc. or
e Find an alternative use for the money

5. Monitor Your Decision

If you decide to make the loan, you will need to monitor it periodically. During the time
the loan is outstanding, you will want to assess the company’s continuing liquidity as
well as other factors you considered before making the loan.

Built for Today’'s Students

In addition to helping students see the big picture and understand why accounting is im-
portant, Porter/Norton’s Using Financial Accounting Information, 10e is built for
today’s students.
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e New to this edition, the unique modular organization breaks the chapter into
logical groupings of concepts, allowing students to absorb the chapter content in
smaller sections for better retention.

e Test Yourself reviews, at the end of each module, provide students with an oppor-
tunity to check their understanding, answer questions, and work brief exercises to
build confidence. Solutions to Test Yourself, located at the end of the chapter, allow
students to check their answers.

MODULE 1 TEST YOURSELF

o Both of these different types of events affect an entity and are usually recorded in the

LO1 Explain the difference ing system as a
hetwleen external and internal © External events are interactions between an entity and its environment.
events.

* Internal events are interactions entirely within an entity.

. o Source documents provide the evidence needed to begin the procedures for recording and
LO2 Explain the role of source processing a transaction.

documents in an accounting

Syston o These documents need not be in hard copy form and can come from parties that are either

internal or external to the company.

The accounting equation illustrates the relationship between assets, liabilities, and stockhold-
ers’ equity accounts. Understanding these relationships helps to see the logic behind the

(e Al i double-entry system in recording transactions.

transactions on the accounting

equation and understand how * The accounting equation: Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders Equity

these transactions affect the * This equality must always be maintained. The equation can be expanded to show the
balance sheet and the income linkage between the balance sheet and the income statement through the Retained
statement. Earnings account:

Assets = Liabilities + Capital Stock + Retained Earnings

LO4 Describe the use of the
account and the general ledger
to accumulate amounts of
financial statement items.

o The general ledger is a crucial part of the accounting system that lists all the accounts and
their balances. Financial statements may be prepared from current account balances in the
general ledger.

. What are the two types of events that affect an entity? Describe each.
. What is the significance of source documents to the recording process? Give two examples of source documents.

. What is the difference between a chart of accounts and the general ledger?

. Provide three examples of source documents and the event for which each would provide the evidence to record.

. List the three elements in the accounting equation. How is the third element expanded to show the linkage between the balance
sheet and the income statement?

. Third State Bank loans a customer $5,000 in exchange for a promissory note. What is the effect of this transaction on the bank’s
accounting equation?

. Assume that Vail Resorts borrows $5 million by signing a promissory note. The next day the company uses the money to
buy new ski lifts. What is the effect of each of these transactions on Vail Resorts” accounting equation?

Answers are located at the end of the chapter.

¢ Study Tips in the margins alert students to be on the lookout for certain things.
This could be the similarities between two different concepts or a warning to
watch out for a common pitfall.

CengageNOWv2. CengageNOWv2 for Porter/Norton’s Using Financial
Accounting Information, 10e helps elevate student thinking with unique content that
addresses each stage of the learning process from motivation to mastery. This inte-
grated solution provides tools and resources specifically developed to motivate stu-
dents to learn, apply accounting concepts, and achieve mastery of course content.

In a recent survey of nearly 300 CengageNOW student users:

* Motivation: 77% said that using CengageNOW made them more interested /
engaged in the course.

e Application: 87% said that CengageNOW made completing homework an effec-
tive learning process.

*  Mastery: 72% said CengageNOW helped them go beyond memorization and
recall to reach higher levels of learning.

*  76% said the use of CengageNOW helped them better understand why accounting
matters and the importance of accounting in making critical business decisions.

XV

STUDY TIP

Think of the Accumulated Depre-
ciation account as an extension of
the related asset account, in this
case, the Store Fixtures account.
Therefore, although the Store
Fixtures account is not directly
reduced for depreciation, an
increase in its companion account,
Accumulated Depreciation, has
the effect of reducing the asset.

-‘
CENGAGENOW
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Motivation: Set Expectations and Prepare

Students for the Course

CengageNOWvV2 helps motivate students and get them ready to learn by reshaping their
misconceptions about the introductory accounting course, and providing powerful tools
to engage students.

CengageNOWv2 Start-Up Center. Students are often surprised by the
amount of time they need to spend outside of class working through homework assign-
ments in order to succeed. The CengageNOWv2 Start-Up Center will help students
identify what they need to do and where they need to focus in order to be successful
with a variety of brand new resources.

NEW What Is Accounting? Module ensures students understand course expectations
and how to be successful in the introductory accounting course. This module consists of
two assignable videos: Introduction to Accounting and Success Strategies. The Student

Advice Videos ofter advice from real students about what it takes to do well in the course.

NEW Math Review Module, designed to help students get up to speed with neces-
sary math skills, includes math review assignments and Show Me How math review
videos to ensure that students have an understanding of basic math skills, including:

Whole number operations

Decimal operations and rounding

Percentage operations and conversion

Fraction operations

Converting numbers expressed in one form to a different form
Positive and negative numbers

Ratios and averages

NEW How to Use CengageNOWv2 Module focuses on learning accounting, not
on a particular software system. Quickly familiarize your students with Cengage-
NOWv2 and direct them to all of its built-in student resources.

Motivation: Engage Students and Better Prepare Them for Class.
With all the outside obligations accounting students have, finding time to read the text-
book before class can be a struggle. Point students to the key concepts they need to
know before they attend class.

Video: Tell Me More. Short Tell Me More lecture activities explain the core con-
cepts of the chapter through an engaging auditory and visual presentation. Available
both on a stand-alone basis or as an assignment, they are ideal for all class formats—
flipped model, online, hybrid, face-to-face.

* The accounts receivable turmmover measures how

frequently during the year the accownts receivable
are being converted to cash.
* The accounts receivable turnaover is computed as

follows:
Sales

Agcaunty Recelvable Turnover = =
#werage Accounts Receivable

Bt eeceas relekls
Fe aniling essmms mEeakas
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Students don’t want to waste time going over concepts that they have already mastered.
With the NEW Adaptive Study Plan, they can focus on learning new topics and fully
understanding difficult concepts.

NEW Adaptive Study Plan in CengageNOWvV2 is an assignable /gradable study
center that adapts to each student’s unique needs and provides a remediation path-
way to keep students progressing. With the NEW Adaptive Study Plan, they can
focus on learning new topics and fully understanding difficult concepts.

Betivithes

5 S U YOS LRSS haw WhI B aien 383 e aoioue kareaat of pasds soid

E

How Does It Work?

Step 1: Students take a chapter-level quiz consisting of random questions that cover
both conceptual and procedural aspects of the chapter.

Step 2: Feedback is provided for each answer option explaining why the answer is
right or wrong.

Step 3: Based on the quiz results, students are provided a remediation path that
includes media assets and algorithmic practice problems to help them improve their
understanding of the course material.

Instructors may use prerequisites that require students to achieve mastery in the Adapt-
ive Study Plan before moving on to new material.

Using the Adaptive Study Plan, students may also review . . .
and check their knowledge with the new Practice! Activities. The new Adaptive Study Plan offers the benefit

These items (generally one per learning objective) build appli- of customization coupled with remediation.”
cation skills by allowing students to complete practice problems —Jennifer Schneider,
and “Try Another Version.” professor at University of North Georgia
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Application: Provide Help Right When Students
Need It

Students often complete homework at odd times. And when they use CengageNOWv2,
they get help right when they need it.

e Check My Work Feedback provides general guidance and hints as students work
through homework assignments.
e NEW Check My Work Feedback in CengageNOWv2 now only reports on what

students have actually attempted, which prevents them from “‘guessing” their way
through assignments.

1 *epornL e
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e DPost-Submission Feedback is available after the assignment has been submitted
and provides a detailed description of how to arrive at the solution.

* Video: Show Me How. Created for the most frequently assigned end-of-chapter
items, NEW Show Me How problem demonstration videos provide a step-by-step
model of a similar problem. Embedded tips and warnings help students avoid com-
mon mistakes and pitfalls.

Casm 1 Cuan P Case 3
Baginnimg inwentary i TN 52.500 52630
Purchases i,nel] 6,500 14} {=)
Transportation-in 300 350 450
Tt oo geeeln srvmilab la dor wale 7.500 (L]} 9,500
Endling imrentory ] 2,000 1,500
Coml of goods sold 5,200 5,600 if

Cage 1t
{2) Beaginnin g lnventovy = Cost of Goods Available for Sale - Cost of Goods Prrchased

BTSSR0 = feRR0
= jTo0

(&) Emding mventory = Cost of Goods Awalable for Sale - Cost of Goods Scid

- Tows, by evbiesing G
@ast off goads a7 SB,900

Mastery: Help Students Go Beyond
Memorization to True Understanding.

Students often struggle to understand how concepts relate to one another. For most stu-
dents, an introductory accounting course is their first exposure to both business transac-
tions and the accounting system. While these concepts are already difficult to master
individually, their combination and interdependency in the introductory accounting
course often pose a challenge for students.

* Mastery Problems. New Mastery Problems enable you to assign problems and
activities designed to test students’ comprehension and mastery of difficult concepts.
Can they apply what they have learned to a new problem set that offers a twist?

¢ Decision Cases. Decision Cases require students to read and interpret financial
statements from real-world companies—applying learned concepts to real firms and
real situations.

Enhanced Reporting Capabilities. CengageNOWv2’s new Gradebook Ana-
lytics allow instructors unprecedented insight into classroom performance. This includes:

e classroom performance versus a variety of objectives, including Learning Objectives,
AACSB, Bloom’s, and more;

e classroom performance on specific items; and,

e classroom performance versus national scores.

Xix
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Chapter-by-Chapter Changes
Chapter 1

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Introduced one of two new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., as the
focus company for Chapter 1.

Revised Exhibits 1-1, 1-3, 1-7, and 1-8 to reflect new flagship company, Chipotle
Mexican Grill, Inc.

Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Revised “Connect to the Real World” feature (Real World Practice in prior edition)
to reflect new flagship company.

Updated end-of-chapter material: E1-9, E1-16, P1-8, P1-9, P1-8A, and P1-9A.
Revised DC1-1 and DCI-2 to reflect new flagship company, Chipotle Mexican
Grill, Inc.

Revised DCI1-3 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., and
Panera Bread Company.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World” at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 2

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Introduced one of two new flagship companies, Panera Bread Company, as the
focus company for Chapter 2.

Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Revised Exhibits 2-1, 2-2, and 2-3 to reflect new flagship company, Panera Bread
Company.

Revised “Connect to the Real World™ feature (Real World Practice in prior edition)
to reflect new flagship company.

Revised Ratio Decision and Business Decision Models for the Current Ratio to
reflect new flagship company.

Revised Ratio Decision Model for the Profit Margin Ratio to reflect new flagship
company.

Revised Exercise 2-3 to reflect Regal Entertainment Group.

Updated end-of-chapter material: P2-10 and P2-10A.

Revised DC2-1 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., and
Panera Bread Company.

Revised DC2-2 to reflect new flagship company, Panera Bread Company.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 3

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Introduced Vail Resorts, Inc., as the new focus company for Chapter 3.

Revised “Connect to the Real World™ feature (Real World Practice in prior edition)
to reflect new focus company, Vail Resorts, Inc.

Revised E3-8 and E3-17 to reflect new focus company, Vail Resorts, Inc.

Revised DC3-1 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill and
Panera Bread Company.

Revised DC3-2 to reflect new flagship company, Panera Bread Company.

Updated end-of-chapter material: DC3-3.
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Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 4

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced
the financial statements from Nordstrom as the focus company for Chapter 4.
Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Revised section on the revenue recognition principle to conform to new accounting
standard.

Updated ““Connect to the Real World” (Real World Practice in prior edition) for
new information for Nordstrom, Inc.

Updated end-of-chapter material: DC4-2 and DC4-3.

Revised DC4-1 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill and
Panera Bread Company.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 5

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced
the financial statements from Gap Inc. as the focus company for Chapter 5.
Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Revised Net Sales of Merchandise section to conform to new FASB standard on rev-
enue recognition, “‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers.”

Revised coverage of purchase returns and allowances to conform to coverage of sales
returns and allowances.

Revised coverage of purchase discounts to illustrate the net method of recording.
Updated Example 5-14 for Winnebago Industries” LIFO reserve.

Revised Exhibit 5-9, substituting a partial statement of cash flows for Chipotle Mex-
ican Grill, Inc.

Updated ““Connect to the Real World” (Real World Practice in prior edition) for
new information for Gap Inc.

Updated Ratio Model for the Gross Profit Ratio for new information available.
Updated Ratio Model for the Inventory Turnover Ratio for new information available.
Deleted Exercise requiring detailed analysis for purchase discounts, returns, and
allowances.

Updated end-of-chapter material: E5-15, P5-2, P5-5, P5-8, P5-14, P5-2A, P5-5A,
P5-8A, P5-14A, DC5-2, and DC5-3.

Revised DC5-1 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc. and
Panera Bread Company.

Deleted Decision Case on sales returns and allowances.

Revised DC5-9 to integrate the concept of ethics in accounting with the practice of
modeling ethical decision making.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World” at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 6

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.
Introduced Regal Entertainment Group as the new focus company for Chapter 6.

XXi
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Updated ““Connect to the Real World” (Real World Practice in prior edition) for
new flagship company, Panera Bread Company.

Revised Exhibits 6-1, 6-3, and 6-4 to illustrate statements and reports for new focus
company, Regal Entertainment Group.

Revised DC6-1 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., and
Panera Bread Company.

Updated end-of-chapter material: DC6-2.

Added Answers to “Questions’ and “Apply”” at the end of the chapter for all
modules.

Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World” at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 7

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced
the financial statements from Apple Inc. as the focus company for Chapter 7.
Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Updated “Connect to the Real World” (Real World Practice in prior edition) for
new information for Apple Inc.

Updated Ratio Decision Model for the Accounts Receivable Turnover Ratio with
new information available.

Revised E7-5 to reflect Nike.

Updated end-of-chapter material: P7-3, P7-3A, DC7-1, DC7-2, and DC7-3.
Added Answers to “Questions” and ““Apply’” at the end of the chapter for all
modules.

Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World” at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 8

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and
replaced the financial statements from Nike as the focus company for Chapter 8.
Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Updated Ratio Decision Model with new information for Nike and Foot Locker.
Updated end-of-chapter material: DC8-1 features Panera Bread Company, and
DCS8-2 reflects Panera Bread Company and Chipotle.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “‘Apply”” at the end of the chapter for all
modules.

Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 9

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced
the financial statements from Starbucks as the focus company for Chapter 9.
Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Changed Exhibit 9-4 concerning contingent liabilities.

Updated P9-2 for Burger King, P9-3 for Brinker, P9-2A for McDonald’s, and
P9-3A for Darden Restaurants.

Changed DC9-1 to Panera Bread Company and Chipotle.

Updated DC9-2 for Caribou Coftee, DC9-3 for Walmart, and DC9-4 for
Hewlett-Packard.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.
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Chapter 10

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced the
financial statements from Coca-Cola and Pepsi as the focus companies for Chapter 10.
Updated Ratio Decision Model with new information for Coca-Cola and Pepsi.
Eliminated references to extraordinary items because of FASB pronouncement.
Updated P10-9 on Walgreens and P10-9A on Boeing.

Retained the section on leasing but noted pending FASB pronouncement. This module
can be skipped by instructors and it will not aftect other portions of the chapter.
DCI10-1 features Panera Bread Company, and DC10-2 reflects Panera Bread Com-
pany and Chipotle. DC10-3 has been updated for Pepsi.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 11

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced
the financial statements from Southwest Airlines as the focus company for Chapter 11.
Introduced new feature: How Will I Use Accounting?

Updated end-of-chapter material: P11-7 for Southwest Airlines and P11-7A for Costco.
DCI11-1 features Panera Bread Company and Chipotle, and DCI11-2 highlights
Panera Bread Company.

Made substantial changes to Interactive Problem to eliminate leasing as one of the
alternatives. Problem is now more straigtforward.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World” at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 12

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and replaced
the financial statements of the focus company for Chapter 12.

Deleted exhibit detailing cash flow and net income differences for four companies.
Updated ““Connect to the Real World” (Real World Practice in prior edition) for
new flagship company Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., and for new information for
Walgreens Boots Alliance.

Updated Ratio Decision Model for the Cash Flow Adequacy Ratio with new
information available.

Updated end-of-chapter material: E12-4, DC12-2, and DC12-3.

Revised DC12-1 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.,
and Panera Bread Company.

Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.
Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World” at the end of the chapter.

Chapter 13

Introduced modular approach to chapter topics, including Test Yourself with
Review, Question, and Apply at the end of each module.

Updated the chapter opener with the most current information available and
replaced the financial statements from lululemon athletica inc. as the focus
company for Chapter 13.
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e Updated Exhibit 13-1, with the most current information available for lululemon
athletica inc.

e  Updated “Connect to the Real World” (Real World Practice in prior edition) for
new information for lululemon athletica inc. and for new flagship company Chipotle
Mexican Grill, Inc.

®  Deleted Appendix on Reporting and Analyzing Other Income Statement Items and
end-of-chapter material to conform to new accounting standard to no longer allow
recognition of extraordinary items on the income statement.

e Updated Review Problem for the most current information available for lululemon
athletica inc.

e Updated end-of-chapter material: E13-5, E13-6, E13-7, E13-8, and E13-11.

* Revised DC13-1 and DC13-2 to reflect new flagship company, Chipotle Mexican
Grill, Inc.

e Revised DC13-3 to reflect new flagship companies, Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.,
and Panera Bread Company.

e Revised DC13-4 to reflect new flagship company, Panera Bread Company.

*  Added Answers to “Questions” and “Apply” at the end of the chapter for all modules.

* Added Answers to “Connect to the Real World™ at the end of the chapter.

Additional Instructor and Student
Supplements

Instructor’'s Mlanual

The Instructor’s Manual contains detailed lecture outlines, lecture topics, and sugges-
tions for classroom activities. The chapter activities in the Instructor’s Manual have been
analyzed and assigned the same set of objectives that are used in the Solutions Manual
and the Test Bank (available on the Instructor Companion website).

Solutions Manual

The Solutions Manual, by the text authors, consists of solutions to all the end-of-chapter
material keyed to learning objectives and using the transaction eftects equation found in
the text. (Available on the Instructor Companion website.)

Test Bank

The Test Bank contains a comprehensive set of test items to meet every assessment need
from brief exercises to problems and decision cases. The Test Bank is offered in Cognero.

Cengage Learning Testing Powered by Cognero is a flexible, online system that
allows instructors to:

e author, edit, and manage test bank content from multiple Cengage Learning solutions
e create multiple test versions in an instant
e deliver tests from your LMS, your classroom, or wherever you want

Excel® Templates

Selected problems in each chapter may be solved on a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet to
increase awareness of basic software applications. Just download the Excel spreadsheets
for homework items that are identified by icons in the text. (Excel templates are available
on the Student Resources page of the product website. Password-protected Instructor
solutions are available on the Instructor Companion website.)




Preface

PowerPoint® Slides

Student PowerPoint Slides, a smaller version of the Instructor PowerPoint Lectures,
allow students to get ready for upcoming lectures, quizzes, homework, and exams with
core material needed for chapter study. (Student PowerPoint Slides are available on the
Student Resources page of the product website. More detailed, password-protected
Instructor PowerPoint Slides are available on the Instructor Companion website.)

Student Web Resources

Chapter-by-chapter quizzes, topical discussions, updates on IFRS integration, and more
are available. These items help reinforce and shed light on text topics. Discover more by
logging into the text website. Visit www.cengagebrain.com.
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m LEARNING OBJECTIVES WHY IS THIS CHAPTER IMPORTANT?

—
1 LO1 Explain what business is about.
The Nature of LO2 Distinguish among the forms of organization.
SEITEES LO3 Describe the various types of business activities.
2 LO4 Define accounting and identify the primary users
of accounting information and their needs.
Accounting
and Financial LOS Explain the purpose of each of the financial state-
Statements ments and the relationships among them and
prepare a set of simple statements.
LOG6 |Identify and explain the primary assumptions made
in preparing financial statements.
3 LO7 |Identify the various groups involved in setting
Conceptual accounting standards and the role of auditors in
Framework of determining whether the standards are followed.
Accounting
LO8 Explain the critical role that ethics plays in provid-

ing useful financial information.

Copyric

You need to know what a business is. (See p. 4.)

You need to know what forms of organization carry on
business activities. (See pp. 4-6.)

You need to know in what types of business activities
those organizations engage. (See pp. 6-8.)

You need to know what net income is and how it is
measured. (See p. 13.)

You need to know how revenue and net income relate to a
company’s assets. (See pp. 12-13.)

You need to know where the various items appear on a
company’s financial statements. (See pp. 12—15.)

You need to know who determines the rules for the prepa-
ration of financial statements. (See pp. 21-22.)
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CHIPOTLE MEXICAN GRILL, INC.

Why is learning financial accounting important? Why should
you care about learning to read the financial statements of a
company?

Simply put, the more you know about how successful companies
work, the better are your chances of doing well in your chosen field.
And to know why these companies are successful you need to be
able to read their financial statements. Whatever you plan to do, your
knowledge of business and accounting helps you compete whether
you invest, work for a company, or go into business for yourself.

Consider one very successful company, Chipotle Mexican
Grill, Inc. Maybe you are a frequent customer at one of its restau-
rants. The company got its start in 1993, when Steve Ells left his job
as a chef and with a modest loan from his parents opened his first
restaurant in a former ice cream shop in Denver. Over the next few
years, additional restaurants were opened in the Denver area. In 1998
the entrepreneur brought in outside investors to help finance his grow-

ing chain. And, in 2006, Chipotle went public on the New York Stock
Exchange.

With each of these decisions Steve Ells made was a calculated
risk: quitting his job to go it alone, opening new restaurants, bringing
in new investors, and going public. How can we know whether they
were good decisions? The financial statements produced by an
accounting system go a long way in assessing a company's perform-
ance. Look at the Revenue data shown below as they appeared in
Chipotle’s 2015 Form 10-K, the annual report filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. You can see that Chipatle has grown to a
chain of 2,010 restaurants generating revenue of over $4.5 billion!

As you study accounting, you will learn how to read financial
statements and what they can tell you about a company’s perform-
ance and the decisions they make—such as those made by a one-
time chef who built one of the most successful restaurant chains in
the country.

Revenue
Year ended December 31, % increase
(decrease) % increase
2015 over 2014 over
2015 2014 2013 2014 2013
(dollars in millions)

Revenue $4,501.2 $4,108.3 $3,214.6 9.6% 27.8%
Average restaurant sales $ 2424 $ 2472 $ 2.169 (1.9%) 14.0%
Comparable restaurant sales increases 0.2% 16.8% 5.6%
Number of restaurants as of the end of the period 2,010 1,783 1,595 12.7% 11.8%
Number of restaurants opened in the period, net of relocations 227 188 185

Source: Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.: website and Form 10K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015.



LO1 Explain what business is
about.

Business

All of the activities necessary to
provide the members of an
economic system with goods and
services.

Chapter 1 Accounting as a Form of Communication

THE NATURE OF BUSINESS

Broadly defined, business consists of all activities necessary to provide the members of
an economic system with goods and services. Certain business activities focus on provid-
ing goods or products such as ice cream, automobiles, and computers. Some of these
companies produce or manufacture the products. Other companies are involved in the
distribution of the products while others sell directly to the consumer, as does Chipotle
in its restaurants. Other business activities, by their nature, are service-oriented. A broad
range of service providers, such as Walt Disney and United Airlines, provide evi-
dence of the growing importance of the service sector in the U.S. economy.

EXAMPLE 1-1 Identifying Types of Businesses

To appreciate the kinds of enterprises in our economy, consider the various types of compa-
nies that have a stake in the delivery of a shipment of cheese to Chipotle. First, a supplier of
raw material, in this case, a dairy, must deliver the milk to make cheese to a manufacturer
or producer. The producer uses the milk to make the cheese. At this stage, the producer
sells the cheese to a distributor or wholesaler, who in turn sells the cheese to a restaurant
such as Chipotle. Additionally, service companies are involved, such as the transportation
companies that deliver the goods to the various companies in the process. Exhibit 1-1 summa-
rizes the various types of businesses.

EXHIBIT 1-1 Types of Businesses

Supplier:
Daisy's Dairy
Product
Companies
cheddar cheddar
. cheese cheese
H o
1
! Manufacturers/ Distributor/ Retailers
' Producers: e —— Wholesaler: —_— (Restaurant):
! Cheddar Cheese ! Duffy’s Distributors // Chipotle
. Company : 5
. . ! //
~ 1 ’
~ ~ : ’/’
Service Service Companies:  .*~
Companies ABC Transport

LO2 Distinguish among the forms
of organization.

Forms of Organization

One convenient way to categorize the many different types of organizations in our society
is to distinguish between those that are organized to earn money and those that exist for
some other purpose. Although the lines can become blurred, business entities such as
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Chipotle generally are organized to earn a profit, whereas nonbusiness entities generally
exist to serve various segments of society. Both types are summarized in Exhibit 1-2.

EXHIBIT 1-2 Forms of Organization

Business Entities

/N

Sole

Nonbusiness Entities

/\

Government

Private

Partnerships Corporations

Proprietorships

g

Entities

Organizations

’

Federal State and Hospitals,
Government Local Universities,
and Its Governments Cooperatives,
Agencies and Their and
Agencies Philanthropic

Business Entities
Business entities are organized to earn a profit. Legally, a profit-oriented company is
one of three types: a sole proprietorship, a partnership, or a corporation.

Sole Proprietorships This form of organization is characterized by a single
owner. Many small businesses are organized as sole proprietorships, often owned and
operated by the same person. Because of the close relationship between the owner and
the business, the affairs of the two must be kept separate. This is one example in
accounting of the economic entity concept, which requires that a single, identifiable
unit of organization be accounted for in all situations. For example, assume that Bernie
Berg owns a neighborhood grocery store. In paying monthly bills such as utilities and
supplies, Bernie must separate his personal costs from the costs associated with the gro-
cery business. In turn, financial statements prepared for the business must not intermin-
gle Bernie’s personal affairs with the company affairs.

Unlike the distinction made for accounting purposes between an individual’s per-
sonal and business affairs, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) does not recognize the
separate existence of a proprietorship from its owner. That is, a sole proprietorship is not
a taxable entity; the business’s profits are taxed on the individual’s return.

Partnerships A partnership is a business owned by two or more individuals. Many
small businesses begin as partnerships. When two or more partners start out, they need
an agreement as to how much each will contribute to the business and how they will
divide any profits. This agreement may be an oral understanding between the partners,
or it may be a formalized written document.

Public accounting firms, law firms, and other types of service companies are often
organized as partnerships. Like a sole proprietorship, a partnership is not a taxable entity.
Individual partners pay taxes on their proportionate shares of the business’s profits.

Corporations Although sole proprictorships and partnerships dominate in sheer
number, corporations control a majority of the private resources in this country. A
corporation is an entity organized under the laws of a particular state.

To start a corporation, articles of incorporation must be filed with the state. If the
articles are approved by the state, a corporate charter is issued and the corporation can
begin to issue stock. A share of stock is a certificate that acts as evidence of ownership
in a corporation. Stocks of many corporations are traded on organized stock exchanges
such as the New York Stock Exchange. Chipotle’s stock is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange.

Organizations

Business entity
An organization operated to earn a
profit.

Sole proprietorship
A form of organization with a single
owner.

Economic entity concept

The assumption that a single,
identifiable unit must be accounted
for in all situations.

Partnership

A business owned by two or more
individuals; the organization form
often used by accounting firms and
law firms.

Corporation

A form of entity organized under the
laws of a particular state; ownership
evidenced by shares of stock.

Share of stock
A certificate that acts as evidence of
ownership in a corporation.



Bond

A certificate that represents a
corporation’s promise to repay a
certain amount of money and
interest in the future.

Nonbusiness entity
An organization operated for some
purpose other than to earn a profit.

LO3 Describe the various types of
business activities.

Liability
An obligation of a business.

Chapter 1 Accounting as a Form of Communication

What are the advantages of running a business as a corporation?

e A corporation has the ability to raise large amounts of money in a relatively
brief period of time. This is what prompted Chipotle to eventually “go public.”
To raise money, the company sold a specific type of security: stock. Corporations
may also issue bonds. A bond is different from a share of stock because it represents
a promise by the company to repay a certain amount of money at a future date. In
other words, if you were to buy a bond from a company, you would be lending it
money. Interest on the bond is usually paid semiannually.

e Ownership in a corporation is transferred easily. If you hold shares of stock in a
corporation whose stock is actively traded and you decide that you want out, you
simply call your broker and put in an order to sell.

e Stockholders have limited liability. Generally, a stockholder is liable only for the
amount contributed to the business. That is, ifa company goes out of business, the most
the stockholder stands to lose is the amount invested. On the other hand, both proprie-
tors and general partners usually can be held personally liable for the debts of the business.

Nonbusiness Entities

Most nonbusiness entities are organized to serve the needs of various segments of
society. For example, a hospital provides health care to its patients. A municipal govern-
ment is operated for the benefit of its citizens. A local school district meets the educa-
tional needs of the community’s youth.

None of these entities has an identifiable owner. The lack of an identifiable owner
and of the profit motive changes the type of accounting used by nonbusiness entities.
This type, called fund accounting, is discussed in advanced accounting courses. Regard-
less of the lack of a profit motive in nonbusiness entities, they still need the information
provided by an accounting system. For example, a local government needs detailed cost
breakdowns in order to levy taxes. A hospital may want to borrow money and will need
financial statements to present to the prospective lender.

Organizations and Social Responsibility

Although nonbusiness entities are organized specifically to serve members of society,
U.S. business entities recognize the societal aspects of their overall mission and have
established programs to meet these responsibilities. Some companies focus on local char-
ities, while others donate to national or international causes.

The Nature of Business Activity

Corporations engage in many different types of activities. However, these activities can
be categorized into one of three types: financing, investing, or operating.

Financing Activities

All businesses must start with financing. Steve Ells needed money in the 1990s to
open his first Chipotle restaurant, so he went to his parents for a modest loan. The com-
pany needed additional financing later and thus made the decision in 2006 to sell stock
to the public. Most companies not only sell stock to raise money but also borrow from
various sources to finance their operations. These financing activities bring up two im-
portant accounting terms: Labilities and capital stock.

EXAMPLE 1-2 Distinguishing Between Liabilities and Capital Stock

A liability is an obligation of a business. \When a company borrows money at a bank, the
liability is called a note payable. When a company sells bonds, the obligation is termed bonds
payable. Amounts owed to the government for taxes are called taxes payable. When Chipotle
buys chicken and the supplier gives Chipotle 30 days to pay the amount owed, Chipotle’s obli-
gation is called accounts payable.
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Capital stock is the term used by accountants to indicate the dollar amount of
stock sold to the public. Capital stock differs from liabilities in one very important respect.
Those who buy stock in a corporation are not lending money to the business, as are those
who buy bonds in the company or make a loan in some other form. One who buys stock in a
company is called a stockholder, and that person is providing a permanent form of financing
to the business. In other words, there is no due date when the stockholder must be repaid.
Normally, the only way for a stockholder to get back his or her original investment from buying
stock is to sell it to someone else. One who buys bonds in a company or in some other way
makes a loan to it is called a creditor. A creditor does not provide a permanent form of fi-
nancing to the business. That is, the creditor expects repayment of the amount loaned and, in
many instances, payment of interest for the use of the money.

Investing Activities

Once funds are generated from creditors and stockholders, money is available to invest
in assets. An asset is a future economic benefit to a business. For example, cash is an
asset to a company. To Chipotle, its restaurants are assets, as is its inventory of ingre-
dients on hand for use in making menu items. However, not all assets are tangible in na-
ture, as are buildings, equipment, and inventory.

EXAMPLE 1-3 Identifying Assets

Assume that a company acquires a patent that will give it the exclusive right to produce a cer-
tain product. The right to the future economic benefits from the patent is an asset. In sum-
mary, an asset is a valuable resource to the company that controls it.

Notice the tie between assets and liabilities. Although there are some exceptions,
most liabilities are settled by transferring assets. The asset most often used to settle a
liability is cash.

Operating Activities

Once funds are obtained from financing activities and investments are made in
productive assets, a business is ready to begin operations. Every business is organized
with a purpose in mind. The purpose of some businesses, such as Chipotle, is to sell a
product. Other companies provide services. Service-oriented businesses are becoming an
increasingly important sector of the U.S. economy. Some of the largest corporations in
this country, such as banks and airlines, sell services rather than products.

Revenue is the inflow of assets resulting from the sale of products and services.
When a company makes a cash sale, the asset it receives is cash. When a sale is made on
credit, the asset received is an account receivable. Revenue represents the dollar amount
of sales of products and services for a specific period of time.

An expense is the outflow of assets resulting from the sale of goods and services.
Expenses must be incurred to operate a business.

¢ Chipotle must pay its employees salaries and wages.

e Suppliers must be paid for purchases of inventory, and the utility company has to be
paid for heat and electricity.

* The government must be paid the taxes owed it.

Summary of Business Activities

Exhibit 1-3 summarizes the three types of activities conducted by a business. A company
obtains money from various types of financing activities, uses the money raised to invest
in productive assets, and then provides goods and services to its customers. Actual busi-
nesses have many different financing, investing, and operating activities going on at any
one time.

Capital stock
Indicates the owners’ contributions
to a corporation.

Stockholder
One of the owners of a corporation.

Alternate term: Shareholder.

Creditor
Someone to whom a company or
person has a debt.

Alternate term: Lender.

Asset
A future economic benefit.

Revenue
An inflow of assets resulting from
the sale of goods and services.

Expense
An outflow of assets resulting from
the sale of goods and services.
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EXHIBIT 1-3 A Model of Business Activities

Financing
Activities
Raising money to
start the business

Steve Ells started Chipotle with

a modest loan from his parents. )
P Money raised through

Some profits are financing is needed for

used t,o pay investing.
creditors
Operating while other profits are reinvested in
Activities productive assets—such as new restaurants. Investing
Generating revenues > Activities
(and profits) /4 Buying assets
via sales 2
Assets are . = )
Chipotle used to Chipotle invested in
sells food generate assets such as equipment
to its customers. revenues. to start its business.

MODULE 1 TEST YOURSELF

e Business consists of all activities necessary to provide members of an economic system with
goods and services. Suppliers, manufacturers, wholesalers, and retailers are examples of
product companies.

LO1 Explain what business is
about.

e Some entities are organized to earn a profit, while others are organized to serve various seg-

LO2 Distinguish among the ments of society.

forms of organization. : - . . . :
e The three forms of business entities are sole proprietorships, partnerships, and corporations.

e All business activities can be categorized as operating, investing, or financing activities.

e Financing activities involve raising money from contributions made by the owners of a busi-

. . ness as well as obtaining loans from outsiders.
LO3 Describe the various g

types of business activities. * Companies invest the amounts raised from financing activities in various types of assets,
such as inventories, buildings, and equipment.

e (Once funds are obtained and investments are made in productive assets, a business can
begin operations. Operating activities involve providing goods and services to customers.

1. What is business about? What do all businesses have in common?
2. What is an asset? Give three examples.
3. What is a liability? How does the definition of /iability relate to the definition of asset?

4. Business entities are organized as one of three distinct forms. What are these three forms?

1. What does it mean when you own a share of stock in a company rather than one of its bonds?
2. Consider your own situation in terms of assets and liabilities. Name three of your financial assets. Name three of your financial
liabilities.

3. What are the three distinct types of business activity in which companies engage? Assume that you start your own company to
rent bicycles in the summer and skis in the winter. Give an example of at least one of each of the three types of business
activities in which you would engage.

Answers are located at the end of the chapter.
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ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting is often referred to as the language of business. In fact, accounting is “the
process of identifying, measuring, and communicating economic information to permit
informed judgments and decisions by users of the information.”* Each of the three activ-
ities in this definition—identifying, measuring, and communicating—requires the judg-
ment of a trained professional. Note that the definition refers to the users of economic
information and the decisions they make.

Users of Accounting Information and Their Needs
Internal users, primarily the managers of a company, are involved in the daily affairs of
the business. All other groups are external users.

Internal Users The management of a company is in a position to obtain financial in-
formation in a way that best suits its needs. For example, if Chipotle’s management wants
to find out if the monthly payroll is more or less than the budgeted amount, a report can be
generated to provide the answer. Management accounting is the branch of accounting
concerned with providing internal users (management) with information to facilitate plan-
ning and control. The ability to produce management accounting reports is limited only
by the extent of the data available and the cost involved in generating the information.

External Users External users, those not directly involved in the operations of a
business, need information that differs from that needed by internal users. In addition,
the ability of external users to obtain the information is more limited. Without day-to-
day contact with the business’s affairs, outsiders must rely on the information presented
by the company’s management.

Certain external users such as the IRS require that information be presented in a
very specific manner, and they have the authority of the law to ensure that they get the
required information. Stockholders and creditors must rely on financial statements for
their information.? Financial accounting is the branch of accounting concerned with
communication with outsiders through financial statements.

Stockholders and Potential Stockholders Both existing and potential stockholders
need financial information about a business. If you currently own stock in Chipotle, you
need information that will aid in your decision either to continue to hold the stock or to
sell it. If you are considering buying stock, you need financial information that will help in
choosing among competing alternative investments. What has been the recent perform-
ance of the company in the stock market? What were its profits for the most recent year?
How do these profits compare with those of the prior year? Did the company pay any divi-
dends? One source for much of this information is the company’s financial statements.

Bondholders, Bankers, and Other Creditors Before buying a bond in a company,
you need assurance that the company will be able to pay you the amount owed at matu-
rity and the periodic interest payments. Financial statements can help you to decide
whether to purchase a bond. Similarly, before lending money, a bank needs financial in-
formation that will help it determine the company’s ability to repay both the amount of
the loan and interest.

Government Agencies Numerous government agencies have information needs speci-
fied by law. For example, the IRS is empowered to collect a tax on income from both

" American Accounting Association, A Statement of Basic Accounting Theory (Evanston, lll.: American Accounting Asso-
ciation, 1966), p. 1.

2 Technically, stockholders are insiders because they own stock in the business. In most large corporations, however, it
is not practical for stockholders to be involved in the daily affairs of the business. Thus, they are better categorized here
as external users because they normally rely on general-purpose financial statements, as do creditors.

LO4 Define accounting and identify
the primary users of accounting
information and their needs.

Accounting

The process of identifying,
measuring, and communicating
economic information to various
users.

Management accounting
The branch of accounting
concerned with providing
management with information to
facilitate planning and control.

Financial accounting

The branch of accounting
concerned with the preparation of
financial statements for outsider
use.
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individuals and corporations. Every year, a company prepares a tax return to report to the
IRS the amount of income it earned. Another government agency, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC), was created in the aftermath of the Great Depression. This
regulatory agency sets the rules under which financial statements must be prepared for cor-
porations that sell their stock to the public on organized stock exchanges. Companies oper-
ating in specialized industries submit financial reports to other regulatory agencies such as
the Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC) and the Federal Trade Commission (FTC).

Increasingly, global companies must consider the reporting requirements in foreign
countries where they operate. For example, a company might be listed on a stock
exchange in the United States as well as in Tokyo or London. Additionally, companies
often need to file tax returns in other countries.

Other External Users Many other individuals and groups rely on financial informa-
tion. A supplier of raw material needs to know the creditworthiness of a company before
selling it a product on credit. To promote its industry, a trade association must gather fi-
nancial information on the various companies in the industry. Other important users are
stockbrokers and financial analysts. They use financial reports in advising their clients on
investment decisions. All of these users rely to a large extent on accounting information
provided by management. Exhibit 1-4 summarizes the various users of financial informa-
tion and the types of decisions they must make.

EXHIBIT 1-4 Users of Accounting Information

Categories of Users Examples of Users Common Decision Relevant Question
Internal Management Should we add another restaurant to our chain?  How much will it cost to build the restaurant?
External Stockholder Should | buy shares of Chipotle’s stock? How much did the company earn last year?
Banker Should | lend money to Chipotle? What debts or liabilities does the company have?
Employee Should | ask for a raise? How much are the company's revenues, and
how much is it paying out in salaries and
wages? |s the compensation it is paying
reasonable compared to its revenues?
Supplier Should | allow Chipotle to buy What is the current amount of the company’s
chicken from me and pay me later? accounts payable?

Using Financial Accounting Information
You are considering whether you should buy stock in Chipotle. The Financial Decision
Framework below can be used to help make such investment decisions.

Let’s say you have been eagerly awaiting an earnings announcement from Chipotle.
You have eaten at the company’s restaurants for a few years but never gave much
thought to the financial side of its business. Use the Financial Decision Framework to
help you make the decision.

FINANCIAL DECISION FRAMEWORK

Use the following decision process to help you make an investment decision about
Chipotle or any other public company.

1. Formulate the Question
Isaved $1,000 from my summer job.

e Should I invest $1,000 in Chipotle stock?
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2. Gather Information from the Financial Statements and Other Sources
The information needed will come from a variety of sources:

e My personal finances at the present time

e Alternative uses for the $1,000

® The outlook for the industry

e Dublicly available information about Chipotle, including its financial statements

3. Analyze the Information Gathered
The information in the financial statements can be used to perform:

e Ratio analysis (looking at relationships among financial statement items)
e Horizontal analysis (looking at trends over time)

®  Vertical analysis (comparing financial statement items in a single period)
e Comparisons with competitors

e Comparisons with industry averages

4. Make the Decision

Taking into account all of the various sources of information, you decide either to:
e Use the $1,000 for something else

e Invest the $1,000 in Chipotle

5. Monitor Your Decision
If you do decide to invest, you will want to monitor your investment periodically.
Whether you made a good decision will be based on the answers to these two questions:

e Have I received any dividends on my shares?
e Has the price of the stock increased above what I paid for it?

A critical step in this framework is gathering information from the financial statements,
the means by which an accountant communicates information about a company to those
interested in it.

Financial Statements: How Accountants
Communicate

The primary focus of this book is financial accounting. This branch of accounting is con-
cerned with informing management and outsiders about a company through financial
statements. We turn now to the composition of the four major statements: balance
sheet, income statement, statement of retained earnings, and statement of cash flows.

The Accounting Equation
The accounting equation is the foundation for the entire accounting system:

Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity

e The left side of the accounting equation refers to the assets of the company.
Those items that are valuable economic resources and that will provide future
benefit to the company should appear on the left side of the equation.

e The right side of the equation indicates who provided, or has a claim to, those
assets. Some of the assets were provided by creditors, and they have a claim to them.
For example, if a company has a delivery truck, the dealer that provided the truck to
the company has a claim to the assets until the dealer is paid. The delivery truck would
appear on the left side of the equation as an asset to the company; the company’s
linbility to the dealer would appear on the right side of the equation. Other assets are
provided by the owners of the business. Their claims to these assets are represented by
the portion of the right side of the equation called owners’ equity.
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LOS Explain the purpose of each of
the financial statements and the
relationships among them and
prepare a set of simple statements.

STUDY TIP

The accounting equation and the
financial statements are at the
heart of this course. Memorize
the accounting equation and
make sure you study this intro-
duction to how the financial
statements should look, how to
read them, and what they say
about a company.

Owners’ equity
The owners' claims on the assets of
an entity.



Stockholders’ equity
The owners’ equity in a corporation.

Alternate term: shareholders’ equity.

Retained earnings

The part of stockholders’ equity that
represents the income earned less
dividends paid over the life of an
entity.

Balance sheet

The financial statement that
summarizes the assets, liabilities,
and owners’ equity at a specific
point in time.

Alternate term: Statement of
financial position.
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The term stockholders’ equity, or shareholders’ equity, is used to refer to the owners’ eq-
uity of a corporation. Stockholders’ equity is the difference between a corporation’s
assets and its obligations, or liabilities. That is, after the amounts owed to bondhold-
ers, banks, suppliers, and other creditors are subtracted from the assets, the amount
remaining is the stockholders’ equity, the amount of interest or claim that the owners
have on the assets of the business.

Stockholders’ equity arises in two distinct ways.

1. Itis created when a company issues stock to an investor. It represents the amounts
contributed by the owners to the company.

2. As owners of shares in a corporation, stockholders have a claim on the assets of a
business when it is profitable. Retained earnings represents the owners’ claims
to the company’s assets that result from its earnings that have not been paid
out in dividends. It is the earnings accumulated or retained by the company.

The Balance Sheet

The balance sheet (sometimes called the statement of financial position) is the fi-
nancial statement that summarizes the assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity of a
company. It is a snapshot of the business at a certain date. A balance sheet can be pre-
pared on any day of the year, although it is most commonly prepared on the last day of a
month, quarter, or year. At any point in time, the balance sheet must be “in balance.”
That is, assets must equal liabilities and owners’ equity.

The financial statements for real companies can be quite complex. Therefore, before
we attempt to read Chipotle’s statements, we will start with a hypothetical company.

EXAMPLE 1-4 Preparing a Balance Sheet

Top of the World owns and operates a ski resort in the Rockies. The company’s balance sheet on June 30, 2017, the end of its first year
of business, is presented below. As you study the balance sheet, note the description for each item to help you understand it better.

Cash on hand Top of the World ATIOU S
asiwellige Balance Sheet owed_ to
in checking June 30, 2017 suppliers
and savings (in thousands of dollars) Amounts
accounts N . owed to
Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity |
Amounts = Cash $ 200  Accounts payable $ 700 = employees
owed by = Accounts receivable 600  Salaries and wages payable 400 —= Amounts
customers > Land ) . 4,000 NOt?S payable 3,000 — owed to
= Lodge, lifts, and equipment 2500  Capital stock 2,000 —= Ine bemlk
The ski Retained earnings 1,200 —=
mountain Total liabilities and
owned by the Total assets $7,300 stockholders’ equity $7,300
company Owners’
contributions
The building, ski lifts, Inemie e lses .

and ski equipment
owned by the company

dividends paid over

the life of the corporation corporation

Two items should be noted in the heading of the statement. First, the company chose a date other than December 31, the calendar
year-end, to finish its accounting, or fiscal, year. Although December 31 is the most common year-end, some companies choose a dif-
ferent year-end date. Often, this choice is based on when a company'’s peak selling season is over. For example, Gap Inc. ends its
accounting year on the Saturday closest to January 31, after the busy holiday season. By June 30, Top of the World's ski season has
ended and the company can devote its attention to preparing its financial statements. The second item to note in the heading of the
statement is the last line: "'in thousands of dollars.”” This means, for example, that rather than cash being $200, the amount is actually

1,000 x $200, or $200,000.
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Exhibit 1-5 summarizes the relationship between the accounting equation and the
items that appear on a balance sheet.

EXHIBIT 1-5 The Relationship Between the Accounting Equation
and the Balance Sheet

Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity
Economic resources Creditors’ claims Owners’ claims
Examples: to the assets to the assets
e Cash Examples: Examples:

e Accounts receivable e Accounts payable e Capital stock
e | and ¢ Notes payable ® Retained earnings

Income statement

Terminology Note: Exhibit 1-5 refers to Owners’ Equity, while Example 1-4 refers to .
9 dury. P A statement that summarizes

Stockholders’ Equity. Owners’ equity is the general term by which we refer to ownership.

“Stockholders’ equity” refers only to ownership of a corporation by shareholders. revenues and expenses.
Because we emphasize corporations in this book, we will use the term Alternate term: Statement of
Stockholders’ equity. income.

Net income

The Income Statement The excess of revenues over
An income statement, or statement of income, summarizes the revenues and ©XPenses.
expenses of a company for a period of time. Alternate term: Profits, earnings.

EXAMPLE 1-5 Preparing an Income Statement

An income statement for Top of the World for its first year in business is shown below. Unlike the balance sheet, an income state-
ment is a flow statement. That is, it summarizes the flow of revenues and expenses for the year. The top portion of the income
statement makes it clear that the ski company has two distinct types of revenues: those from selling lift tickets and those from rent-
ing ski equipment. For example, if you paid the company $50 for a one-day lift ticket and another $30 to rent equipment for the day,
each of those amounts would be included in Top of the World's revenues for the year. The expenses reported on the income state-
ment represent all of the various costs necessary to run a ski resort. For example, a significant cost for such an operation is payroll,
as represented by salaries and wages on the income statement. Note that the amount reported for salaries and wages expense on
the income statement is not the same amount that appeared as salaries and wages payable on the balance sheet. The expense of
$2,000 on the income statement represents the total cost for the year, while the payable of $400 on the balance sheet is the amount
owed to employees on June 30, 2017. Finally, note that the excess of revenues over expenses, or net income, appears as the bot-
tom line on the income statement. A company’s net income is sometimes referred to as its profits or earnings.

Top of the World
Income Statement
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
(in thousands of dollars)
Revenues:
WO YPES 1> Lftickets $5,800
[~ Equipment rentals 2,200
Total revenues $8,000
Expenses:
» Salaries and wages $2,000
All costs of > Depreciation . 100
running a ski > \Water, gas, and electricity 1,500
resort > |nsurance 1,100
> |nterest 300
> |[ncome taxes 1,000
Total expenses 6,000
Net income $2,000




Statement of retained
earnings

The statement that summarizes the
income earned and dividends paid
over the life of a business.

Dividends
A distribution of the net income of a
business to its stockholders.

Statement of cash flows

The financial statement that
summarizes a company's cash
receipts and cash payments during
the period from operating, investing,
and financing activities.
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The Statement of Retained Earnings

A statement of retained earnings cxplains the change in retained earnings for
the period. As discussed carlier, Retained Earnings represents the accumulated earn-
ings of a corporation less the amount paid in dividends to stockholders. Dividends
are distributions of the net income of a business to its stockholders. Most compa-

nies that pay dividends do so four times a year. However, not all businesses pay
cash dividends.

EXAMPLE 1-6 Preparing a Statement of Retained Earnings

A statement of retained earnings for Top of the World is shown below. Revenues minus
expenses, or net income, is an increase in retained earnings, and dividends are a decrease in
the balance. Why are dividends shown on a statement of retained earnings instead of on an
income statement? Dividends are a distribution of the income of the business. They are not
an expense and thus are not a component of net income.

Top of the World
Statement of Retained Earnings

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
(in thousands of dollars)

Retained earnings, beginning of the year $ 0
Net income for the year 2,000
Dividends for the year (800)
Retained earnings, end of the year $1,200

Recall that stockholders’ equity consists of two parts: capital stock and retained earnings.
In lieu of a separate statement of retained earnings, many corporations prepare a comprehen-
sive statement to explain the changes both in the various capital stock accounts and in
retained earnings during the period. Chipotle for example, presents the more comprehensive
statement.

The Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows summarizes the cash flow effects of a company’s
operating, investing, and financing activities for the period. In essence, it shows
the reader where a company got cash during the year and how it used that cash.

EXAMPLE 1-7 Preparing a Statement of Cash Flows

A statement of cash flows for Top of the World is shown on the next page. Note the three cat-
egories of cash flow: operating, investing, and financing. The one source of cash to the
company from its operations was the cash it collected from its customers. After deducting
cash payments for operating activities, the ski company generated $2,600 from its operations.
During the period, the company spent $6,600 on various assets. The last category shows that
the issuance of a note generated $3,000 of cash and the issuance of stock produced another
$2,000. Finally, the company paid dividends of $800. The net increase in cash from these
three categories is $200, and since the company was new this year, this number is also its
ending cash balance.

Copyright 2018 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203
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Top of the World
Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash collected from customers $ 7,400
Cash payments for:

Salaries and wages $ 1,600

Wiater, gas, and electricity 1,500

Insurance 400

Interest 300

Income taxes 1,000

Total cash payments 4,800

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,600
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of land $(4,000)

Purchase of lodge, lifts, and equipment (2,600)
Net cash used by investing activities (6,600)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of long-term note $ 3,000

Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 2,000

Dividends declared and paid (800)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,200
Net increase in cash $ 200
Cash at beginning of year 0
Cash at end of year $ 200

Relationships Among the Financial Statements

Note the natural progression in the items from one statement to another. Normally, a
company starts the period with balances in each of the items on its balance sheet. Because
Top of the World is a new company, Exhibit 1-6 shows zero balances on July 1, 2016, the
beginning of its first year in business. The company’s operations during the year resulted
in net income of $2,000 as shown on the income statement at the top of the exhibit. The
net income naturally flows @ onto the statement of retained earnings. Again, because the
ski company is new, its beginning retained earnings balance is zero. After the distribution
of $800 in cash dividends @, the ending retained earnings amounts to $1,200. The ending
retained earnings number flows ® onto the ending balance sheet along with the other
June 30, 2017, balance sheet items. Finally, the net increase in cash at the bottom of the
statement of cash flows equals @ the amount shown on the June 30, 2017, balance sheet.

Looking at Financial Statements
for a Real Company: Chipotle

You would expect the financial statements of actual companies to be more complex than
those for a hypothetical company such as Top of the World. Still, even this early in your
study of accounting, there are certain fundamental points about all financial statements,
real-world or otherwise, that you can appreciate.

Chipotle’s Balance Sheet

Balance sheets for Chipotle at the end of two recent years are shown in Exhibit 1-7.
For comparative purposes, the company reports its financial position at the end of the
two most recent years. Also note that the amounts are in thousands of dollars.

Copyright 2018 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203
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EXHIBIT 1-6 Relationships Among the Financial Statements

Top of the World
Income Statement
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Revenues $8,000
Expenses 6,000
Net income $2,000 ——
(1)
Top of the World

Statement of Retained Earnings

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
Retained earnings, beginning of the year $ 0
Net income 2,000 =
Cash dividends (800) @&
Retained earnings, end of the year $1,200 ——

Top of the World
Balance Sheets ©

JUNE 30,2017 JULY 1, 2016

Assets:

Cash — $ 200 $0

Accounts receivable 600 0

Land 4,000 0

Lodge, lifts, and equipment 2,500 0

Total assets $7,300 $0
Liabilities 9 54100 %0
Capital stock 2,000 0
Retained earnings 1,200 <— 0
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $7,300 $_O

Top of the World
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,600
Net cash used by investing activities (6,600)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,200
Net increase in cash $ 200
Cash at beginning of year 0
Cash at end of year —> ¢ 200

For example, this means that Chipotle had
REAL WORLD READING THE BALANCE SHEET $2,725,066 x 1,000, or $2,725,066,000, or over
| $2.7 billion of total assets at the end of 2015. The
total liabilities of $597,092 thousand at the end of
2015, when added to the total stockholders’ equity

CONNECY To THE CHIPOTLE

State Chipotle’s financial position at the end of 2015 in
terms of the accounting equation. What amount of cash

and cash equivalents does Chipotle have at the end of this year? of $2,127,974 thousand, equals $2,725,066 thou-
What amount does Chipotle owe its suppliers at the end of this sand, the same amount as the total assets.
year? (See answers on p. 48.) A quick comparison of Chipotle’s assets with

those of Top of the World reveals one significant
difference. Because the ski company is a service
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EXHIBIT 1-7 Chipotle's Balance Sheet

Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2015 2014

(as adjusted)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 248,005 $ 419,465
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,176 and $1,199
as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively 38,283 34,839
Inventory 15,043 15,332
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 39,965 34,795
Income tax receivable 58,152 16,488
Investments 415,199 338,592
Total current assets 814,647 859,511
Leasehold improvements, property and equipment, net 1,217,220 1,106,984
Long term investments 622,939 496,106
Other assets 48,321 42,777
Goodwill 21,939 21,939

Total assets $ 2,725,066 $2,527,317

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 85709 $ 69613
Accrued payroll and benefits 64,958 73,894
Accrued liabilities 129,275 102,203
Total current liabilities 279,942 245,710
Deferred rent 251,962 219,414
Deferred income tax liability 32,305 21,561
Other liabilities 32,883 28,263
Total liabilities 597,092 514,948

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 600,000 shares authorized, no shares issued as of
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively — —
Common stock $0.01 par value, 230,000 shares authorized, and 35,790 and 35,394

shares issued as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively 358 354
Additional paid-in capital 1,172,628 1,038,932
Treasury stock, at cost, 5,206 and 4,367 common shares at December 31, 2015 and

December 31, 2014, respectively (1,234,612) (748,759)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (8,273) (429)
Retained earnings 2,197,873 1,722,271

Total shareholders’ equity 2,127,974 2,012,369
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,725,066 $2,527,317

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Source: Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.'s Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015.
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company, it does not have an Inventory account on
its balance sheet. As a product company, Chipotle
does have an inventory account, although it is not

: : : large since the supply of fresh ingredients on hand
Compute the percentage increase in Revenue and in Food, beverage and

packaging costs from 2014 to 2015. Which of these two items on the at any onc time 1s relatlvely small. FlnaHYa note that
income statement increased by the larger percentage? What does this mean to the Chlpotle uses the term “shareholders’ Cqulty,”

management of Chipotle? (See answers on p. 48.) which means the same as “‘stockholders’ equity.”

CONNECT T THE CHIPOTLE

REAL WORLD § READING THE INCOME STATEMENT

Chipotle’s Income Statement
Comparative income statements for three recent years are shown in Exhibit 1-8.%> Note
the two largest items on the income statement: (1) Revenue and (2) Food, beverage, and
packaging costs. Revenue for the most recent year amounted to $4,501,223 thousand, or

EXHIBIT 1-8 Chipotle's Income Statement

Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.

Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013
Revenue $4,501,223 $4,108,269 $3,214,591
Restaurant operating costs (exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below):

Food, beverage and packaging 1,503,835 1,420,994 1,073,514

Labor 1,045,726 904,407 739,800

Occupancy 262,412 230,868 199,107

Other operating costs 514,963 434,244 347,401
General and administrative expenses 250,214 273,897 203,733
Depreciation and amortization 130,368 110,474 96,054
Pre-opening costs 16,922 15,609 15,511
Loss on disposal of assets 13,194 6,976 6,751

Total operating expenses 3,737,634 3,397,469 2,681,871
Income from operations 763,589 710,800 532,720
Interest and other income (expense), net 6,278 3,503 1,751
Income before income taxes 769,867 714,303 534,471
Provision for income taxes (294,265) (268,929) (207,033)
Net income $ 475,602 $ 445,374 $ 327,438
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (6,322) (2,049) 596

Unrealized loss on investments, net of income taxes of $346, $0, and $0 (1,522) — —

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes (7,844) (2,049) 596
Comprehensive income $ 467,758 $ 443,325 $ 328,034
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 15.30 $ 14.35 $ 10.58

Diluted $ 15.10 $ 14.13 $ 10.47
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 31,092 31,038 30,957

Diluted 31,494 31,512 31,281

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Source: Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc.’s Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015.

3 Chipotle prepares a combined statement of income and comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is covered in
advanced accounting courses.
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about $4.5 billion, and the cost for the food and beverages sold, including their packaging,
was $1,503,835 thousand, or about $1.5 billion. Net income for the year amounted to
$475,602 thousand, or about $475.6 million after taking into account all other expenses.

MODULE 2 TEST YOURSELF

e The primary users of financial statements depend on the economic information conveyed in

LO4 Define accounting and those statements to make decisions. Primary users may be broadly classified as intemal and
identify the primary users of external users.
accounting information and

: * |Internal users are usually managers of a company.
their needs. Y g pany

e External users include stockholders, investors, creditors, and government agencies.

e Four major financial statements are covered in this chapter: balance sheet, income statement,
statement of retained earnings, and statement of cash flows.

e The balance sheet is a snapshot of a company's financial position at the end of the period. It

ok (Bl i U058 O reflects the assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity accounts.

each of the financial

statements and the * The income statement summarizes the financial activity for a period of time. Items of reve-
relationships among them and nues, expenses, gains, and losses are reflected on the income statement.

prepare a set of simple e Ultimately, all net income (loss) and dividends are reflected in retained earnings on the bal-
statements. ance sheet. The statement of retained earnings links the income statement to the balance

sheet by showing how net income (loss) and dividends affect the Retained Earnings account.

e The statement of cash flows summarizes the cash flow effects of a company’s operating,
investing, and financing activities.

1. What is accounting? Define it in terms understandable to someone without a business background.
2. What are the two distinct elements of owners” equity in a corporation? Define each element.
3. How should a balance sheet be dated: as of a particular day or for a particular period of time? Explain your answer.

4. How should an income statement be dated: as of a particular day or for a particular period of time? Explain your answer.

1. Think about Chipotle’s business in balance sheet terms. Name three of Chipotle’s assets. Name three of Chipotle’s liabilities.

Apply

2. Place Chipotle's total assets, total liabilities, and total stockholders” equity in the form of the accounting equation.

Answers are located at the end of the chapter.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
OF ACCOUNTING R
LOG Identify and explain the

The record-keeping aspect of accounting—what we normally think of as bookkeeping—  Primary assumptions made in
is the routine part of the accountant’s work and is only a small part of it. Most of the ~Preparing financial statements.

accountant’s job requires a great deal of judgment in communicating relevant informa-
tion to financial statement users. STUDY TIP

Conceptual Framework for Accounting Thg c?ncepts lcrfl this seoticilnI

. . . . underlie everything you will learn
The accounting profcs.smn has developed a co.ncepmﬂl framework for accounting. This throughout the course. You'll en-
framework is a foundation for the specific principles and standards needed by the profes- counter them later in the context
sion. An important part of the conceptual framework is a set of assumptions accountants of specific topics.

make in preparing financial statements.
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How Will I Use ACCOUNTING?

Accounting is often called the “language of business."”
Regardless of your career path, you need to be able to speak

that language.

Financial statements are how accountants
communicate information about a business and you
need to know what the statements are telling you.

Cost principle
Assets are recorded at the cost to
acquire them.

Alternate term: Original cost or
historical cost.

Going concern

The assumption that an entity is not
in the process of liquidation and that
it will continue indefinitely.

Monetary unit

The yardstick used to measure
amounts in financial statements; the
dollar in the United States.
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Economic Entity Concept

The economic entity concept was discussed earlier in this chapter when we explored the
different types of business entities. This assumption requires that an identifiable, spe-
cific entity be the subject of a set of financial statements. For example, even though
some of Chipotle’s employees are stockholders and therefore own part of the company,
their personal affairs must be kept separate from the business affairs. When we look at a
balance sheet for the company, we need assurance that it shows the financial position of
that entity only and does not intermingle the personal assets and liabilities of the employ-
ees or any of the other stockholders.

Asset Valuation: Cost or Fair Value?
According to the cost principle, all assets are initially
recorded at the cost to acquire them. For example, Chipotle
would record in its Inventory account the amount paid to ac-
quire its ingredients. Similarly, if Chipotle buys a parcel of
land, the cost of this asset would be included in its Property
account on the balance sheet.

Once assets have been recorded at their cost, an important
accounting question still remains: how should these assets be
valued on subsequent balance sheets? One approach is to con-
tinue to report assets at their original cost. Accountants use the term Abistorical cost to refer to
the original cost of an asset. Under current accounting standards, certain assets are valued at
historical cost on all balance sheets until the company disposes of them. For example, the
amount Chipotle paid to acquire land is verifiable by an independent observer and is consid-
ered more objective than some measure of what the asset might be worth today.

But what if the value of an asset could be objectively determined? Would it be more
useful to the reader of a balance sheet to know what the asset is worth today rather than
what the company paid for it sometime in the past? As you will learn in later chapters,
certain assets are valued on subsequent balance sheets at market value rather than histori-
cal cost. For example, assume that one company buys stock in another company. The
amount that company would initially record as an asset is the amount it paid to buy the
stock. However, it would value its investment at the amount for which it could se// the
shares of stock on the date of the balance sheet.*

Going Concern

Accountants assume that the entity being accounted for is a going concern. That is,
they assume that Chipotle is not in the process of liquidation and that it will con-
tinue indefinitely into the future. When we assume that a business is zot a going con-
cern, market value might be more relevant than historical cost as a basis for recognizing
the assets. But if we are able to assume that a business will continue indefinitely, cost can
be more ecasily justified as a basis for valuation.

The monetary unit used in preparing Chipotle’s statements is the dollar. The dollar
is used because it is the recognized medium of exchange in the United States. It provides
a convenient yardstick to measure the business’s position and earnings. However, the
dollar, like the currencies of all other countries, is subject to instability. A dollar will not
buy as much today as it did ten years ago.

Inflation is evidenced by a general rise in the level of prices in an economy. Its effect
on the measuring unit used in preparing financial statements is an important concern to
the accounting profession. The financial statements of corporations are prepared under
the assumption that the monetary unit is relatively stable. At various times in the past,
this has been a reasonable assumption and at other times not so reasonable.

4The Financial Accounting Standards Board has created a system of classification using topic numbers to identify all
accounting pronouncements. In this text, the codification topic and number are noted first followed by the reference to
each original pronouncement. For example, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, ASC Topic 820 (formerly Fair
Value Measurements, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157).
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Time Period Assumption

Under the time period assumption, accountants assume that it is possible to prepare an
income statement that accurately reflects net income or earnings for a specific time
period. In the case of Chipotle, this time period is one year. It is somewhat artificial to meas-
ure the earnings of a business for a period of time indicated on a calendar, whether it be a
month, a quarter, or a year. Of course, the most accurate point in time to measure the earn-
ings of a business is at the end of its life. Accountants prepare periodic statements, however,
because the users of the statements demand information about the entity on a regular basis.

Setting Accounting Standards

Management of a company is responsible for preparation of the financial statements.
These financial statements must conform to generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). This term refers to the various methods, rules, practices, and other
procedures that have evolved over time in response to the need for regulating the pre-
paration of financial statements. GAAP have developed in response to changes in the
business environment.

Who Determines the Rules for Financial Statements?
No one group is totally responsible for setting the standards or principles to be followed
in preparing financial statements. The process is a joint effort among the following;:

® The federal government, through the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC), has the ultimate authority to determine the rules for preparing financial state-
ments by companies whose securities are sold to the general public. However, for
the most part, the SEC has allowed the accounting profession to establish its own
rules. Companies file various reports with the SEC, including the annual report
containing the financial statements. The annual report filed with the SEC is called
the Form 10-K.

¢ The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) sets these accounting stand-
ards in the United States. Since its creation in the 1970s, this small, independent
board has issued standards on a variety of topics as well as statements of financial
accounting concepts. The standards deal with a variety of financial reporting issues,
such as the proper accounting for lease arrangements and pension plans, and the
concepts are used to guide the board in setting accounting standards.

¢ The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) is the profes-
sional organization of Certified Public Accountants (CPAs). The CPA is the des-
ignation for an individual who has passed a uniform exam administered by the
AICPA and met other requirements as determined by individual states. The AICPA
advises the FASB and in the past was involved in setting the auditing standards to be
followed by public accounting firms. However, the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB) was created by an act of Congress in 2002, and this
body now has the authority to set the standards for conducting audits.

e Finally, if you are considering buying stock in a non-U.S. company like Porsche, the
German-based car manufacturer, you’ll want to be sure that the rules Porsche follows
in preparing its statements are similar to those the FASB requires for U.S. companies.
Unfortunately, accounting standards can differ considerably from one country to
another. The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is the group
responsible for developing worldwide accounting standards. Organizations from many
different countries, including the FASB in this country, participate in the IASB’s efforts
to develop international reporting standards. The FASB currently has a project on its
agenda to work with the IASB toward convergence of accounting standards. Appendix
A at the end of the book describes in more detail the joint efforts of the two groups as
well as some of the major differences in U.S. and international standards.

Earlier in this chapter, we saw that the cost principle requires that assets such as
property and equipment be reported on the balance sheet at their historical cost, that is,
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Time period

An artificial segment on the
calendar used as the basis for
preparing financial statements.

LO7 Identify the various groups
involved in setting accounting
standards and the role of auditors in
determining whether the standards
are followed.

Generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP)
The various methods, rules,
practices, and other procedures that
have evolved over time in response
to the need to regulate the
preparation of financial statements.

Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC)

The federal agency with ultimate
authority to determine the rules for
preparing statements for companies
whose stock is sold to the public.

Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB)

The group in the private sector with
authority to set accounting
standards.

American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA)

The professional organization of
certified public accountants.

Certified Public Accountant
(CPA)

The designation for an individual
who has passed a uniform exam
administered by the AICPA and has
met other requirements as
determined by individual states.

IFRS

Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB)

A five-member body created by an
act of Congress in 2002 to set
auditing standards.

International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB)

The organization formed to develop
worldwide accounting standards.
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Auditing

The process of examining the
financial statements and the
underlying records of a company to
render an opinion as to whether the
statements are fairly presented.

LO8 Explain the critical role that
ethics plays in providing useful
financial information.
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at the amount paid to acquire them. However, under international accounting standards,
it is permissible to report certain types of assets on the balance sheet at their market
value. With significant differences such as this between U.S. and international standards,
it may be some time before all differences are eliminated.

In the meantime, U.S. standard setters continue to work closely with those in the
international community. At one time, foreign companies that filed their financial state-
ments with the SEC were required to adjust those statements to conform to U.S.
accounting standards. As long as foreign companies follow IASB standards, they are no
longer required to make these adjustments.

The Audit of Financial Statements

Financial statements are prepared by a company’s accountants and are the responsibility
of the company’s management. Because most stockholders are not actively involved in
the daily affairs of the business, they must rely on someone else to ensure that manage-
ment is fairly presenting the financial statements. Auditing is the process of examining
the financial statements and underlying records of a company to render an opinion as to
whether they are fairly presented. The primary objective of an audit is to assure stock-
holders and other users that the financial statements are fairly presented.

The external auditor performs various tests and procedures to be able to render an
opinion. The next chapter will examine the auditors’ report, which is essentially the audi-
tors’ opinion concerning the fairness of the presentation of the financial statements.
Note that the auditors’ report is an opinion, not a statement of fact. The firms that pro-
vide external audits for their clients are called public accounting firms. These firms range
in size from those with a single owner to others with thousands of partners.

Introduction to Ethics in Accounting

Rapidly changing markets, technological improvements, and business innovation all affect fi-
nancial decisions. Decision makers consider information received from many sources, such as
other investors in the marketplace, analysts’ forecasts, and corporate officers and executives.

Why Should Accountants Be Concerned with Ethics?

In recent years, the news has been filled with reports of questionable accounting prac-
tices by some companies.

e As a decision maker outside a company, you should be aware of the potential
for ethical conflicts that arise within organizations.

e Ifyou are a decision maker inside a company, you should stay alert for poten-
tial pressures on you or others to make choices that are not in the best interest
of the company, its owners, and its employees as a whole.

Companies may use aggressive accounting practices to misrepresent their earnings, and
executives may misuse their companies’ funds. You may encounter a corporate board of
directors that undermines the goals of its own company or a public accounting firm that fails
its auditing duty to watch for and disclose wrongdoing. You may also encounter circumstan-
ces when it appears as if GAAP may not have been used to resolve particular accounting
issues because there are several conflicting rules, because no specific GAAP rules seem appli-
cable, or because of fraud. As accountants analyze and attempt to solve the ethical dilemmas
posed by certain financial transactions and complex business reporting decisions, they can
turn to their profession’s conceptual framework. According to the profession, the purpose
of financial reporting is to provide information about a company that investors, lenders, and
other creditors can use when deciding whether to provide resources to the entity.”

Is the Information Relevant and a Faithful Representation? When
the accountant asks if the quality of the information that is disclosed is good or if it needs

5 Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts [SFAC] No. 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Chapter 1,
“The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting” (Norwalk, Conn.: Financial Accounting Standards Board,
October 2010).
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to be improved, the answer (which shapes all accounting decisions that follow) is this: If
the information is both relevant and a faithful representation, its quality is good.®

Relevant information is information that is useful to the decision-making proc-
ess. Relevant information may provide clear information about past financial events that
is helpful for predicting the future. To be relevant, the information must also be timely;
that is, it must be available at the time the decision is being made.

Accounting information should also be a faithful representation. This means
that the information is complete, neutral, and free from error. Neutrality means the pre-
sentation of information is free from bias toward a particular result. Neutral information
can be used by anyone, and it does not try to influence the decision in one direction.

Normally, the uncertainties of business transactions and reporting decisions must be
resolved in accordance with GAAP, following the FASB statements. However, the appropri-
ate application of accounting principles may not be easy to determine. You must be alert to
pressures on the decision-making process that may be due to the self-interests of one or more
of the decision makers. Bias, deception, and even fraud may distort the disclosed information.

Moral and Social Context of Ethical Behavior All decision makers
should consider the moral and social implications of their decisions. How will the deci-
sions affect others, such as shareholders, creditors, employees, suppliers, customers, and
the local community? The process of determining the most ethical choice involves identi-
fying the most significant facts of the situation. For financial reporting, this includes
identifying who may be affected and how, the relevant GAAP principles, and a realistic
appraisal of the possible consequences of the decision.

To assist your decision making for the cases and assignments throughout this book,
we offer an ethical decision model, shown in Exhibit 1-9 and explained here.

Identification

1. Recognize the ethical dilemma. A dilemma occurs when this awareness is combined with
the inability to clearly apply accounting principles to represent the situation accurately.

Analysis

2. Analyze the key elements in the situation by answering these questions in sequence:
a. Who may benefit or be harmed?
b. How are they likely to benefit or be harmed?
c. What rights or claims may be violated?
d. What specific interests are in conflict?
e. What are my responsibilities and obligations?

3. Determine what alternative methods are available to report the transaction,
situation, or event. Answer the following questions:
a. Which of the alternatives is most relevant and a faithful representation?

Timeliness should be considered; potential bias must be identified.

b. Does the report accurately represent the situation it claims to describe?
c. Is the information free from bias?

Resolution

4. Select the best or most ethical alternative, considering all of the circumstances and
consequences.

Accountants and Ethical Judgments

Remember the primary goal of accounting: to provide useful information to aid in the
decision-making process. As discussed, the work of the accountant in providing useful
information is anything but routine and requires the accountant to make subjective judg-
ments about what information to present and how to present it. The latitude given
accountants in this respect is one of the major reasons accounting is a profession and its

8 Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts [SFAC] No. 8 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Chapter 3,
“Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information" (Norwalk, Conn.: Financial Accounting Standards Board,
October 2010).
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EXHIBIT 1-9 Ethics and Accounting: A Decision-Making Model

Times when an ethical dilemma is likely to occur

Identification are when a company is considering a decision
about accounting methods or disclosures and
1. Recognize an I when one of the following takes place:
ethical dilemma. e There are conflicting accounting rules.

e There are no GAAP to follow.
e Fraud or other questionable actions have
occurred.

Examples of:
* Those who may benefit or be harmed—
management, shareholders, potential
Y investors, the auditor, creditors, employees.
Analysis * Benefits—higher pay, promotion, increased
status in the community.
e Harm—Iloss of job, bankruptcy, customer’s
_— failure to pay debt.
® Rights/claims—payments to creditors,
obligations to customers.
e Conflicting interests—a member of the board
of directors who is also a company employee,
a manager whose bonus is based on sales.
* Responsibilities—providing the most
accurate information, reporting fraud.

2. Analyze the key
elements in the situation.

Among the alternatives, which provides:

e The most useful and timely information to

Y decision makers?

e The most faithful representation to decision
makers?

¢ |nformation that most accurately represents
what it claims to report?

¢ |nformation that is free from bias toward any
certain result?

3. List alternatives and
evaluate the impact of —— >
each on those affected.

What is the likely impact of each alternative on
those affected?

Resolution

Among the alternatives, which provides decision
4. Select the makers with information that is the most relevant,
best alternative. most complete, most neutral, and most free
from error?

members are considered professionals. Along with this designation as a professional,
however, comes a serious responsibility. As we noted, financial statements are prepared
for external parties who must rely on these statements to provide information on which
to base important decisions.

At the end of each chapter ave cases titled “Ethical Decision Making.” The cases require
you to evaluate difficult issues and make a decision. Judgment is needed in deciding
which accounting method to select ov how to veport a cevtain item in the statements. As
you ave fuced with these decisions, keep in mind the trust that vavious financial state-
ment users place in the accountant.

The Changing Face of the Accounting Profession

Probably no time in the history of the accounting profession in the United States has
seen more turmoil and change than the period since the start of the new millennium.
Corporate scandals have led to some of the largest bankruptcies in the history of
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business. In addition to these scandals, the ongoing global economic crisis continues to
present challenges for accountants.
Although the issues involved in these corporate scandals are complex, the account-
ing questions were often very basic. For example, the most fundamental accounting issue
involved in the Enron case revolved around the entity concept that was explained earlier
in this chapter. Specifically, should various entities under the control of Enron have been
included in the company’s financial statements? Similarly, the major question in the
WorldCom case was whether certain costs should have been treated as expenses when
incurred rather than accounted for as assets.
The scandals of the last few years have resulted in a major focus on nonaudit services
such as tax planning and systems consulting provided by public accounting firms and the
issue of auditor independence. For example, is it possible for an accounting firm to
remain independent in rendering an opinion on a company’s financial statements while
simultaneously advising the company on other matters?
In 2002, Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This act was a direct response ~ Sarbanes-Oxley Act
to the corporate scandals mentioned earlier and was an attempt to bring about major An act of Congress in 2002

reforms in corporate accountability and stewardship. Among the most important provi- intended to bring reform to

. . . corporate accountability and
sions in the act are the following;: ste\?vardship in the wakye of a

number of major corporate

1. The establishment of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board scandals

2. Arequirement that the external auditors report directly to the company’s audit committee

3. A clause to prohibit public accounting firms that audit a company from providing
any other services that could impair their ability to act independently in the course
of their audit

Events of the last few years have placed accountants and the work they do in the spotlight.
More than ever before, accountants realize the burden of responsibility they have to commu-
nicate openly and honestly with the public concerning the financial well-being of businesses.

MODULE 3 TEST YOURSELF

e The usefulness of accounting information is enhanced through the various assumptions set
forth in the conceptual framework developed by the accounting profession. This conceptual
framework is the foundation for the methods, rules, and practices that make up generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

LOG Identify and explain the e |mportant assumptions in the conceptual framework are as follows:

primary assumptions made in e Economic entity concept
preparing financial statements. o (Cost principle

e (Going concern
e Monetary unit

e Time period
LO7 Identify the various e Financial statements are the responsibility of management. Various groups are involved in
groups involved in setting setting the standards that are used in preparing the statements. Although the SEC has the
accounting standards and the ultimate authority to determine the rules, the FASB currently sets the standards in the United
role of auditors in determining States.
whether the standards are e The role of the external auditor is to perform various tests and procedures to render an opin-
followed. ion as to whether the financial statements of a company are fairly presented.

) N e All decision makers must consider the moral and social implications of their decisions.
LO8 Explain the critical role

that ethics plays in providing
useful financial information.

* Recent news of questionable accounting practices has placed increased scrutiny on the
accounting profession. Professional judgment is often needed to arrive at appropriate deci-
sions when some question arises about the application of GAAP.
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wrs 1. Evaluate the following statement: Companies based in the United States can choose whether to follow the standards of
the FASB or those of the IASB since the rules of the two groups have converged.

2. Evaluate the following statement: The auditors are in the best position to evaluate a company because they have prepared the
financial statements.

3. Why does inflation present a challenge to the accountant? Relate your answer to the monetary unit assumption.

4. What is meant by the term generally accepted accounting principles?

1. What monetary unit is used to prepare financial statements for companies in the United States? for companies in Japan?

What role has the Securities and Exchange Commission played in setting accounting standards? Contrast its role with that played
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

3. List the four steps that can help a person make ethical decisions.

Answers are located at the end of the chapter.

KEY TERMS QUIZ

Note to the student: We conclude each chapter with a quiz on the key terms, which are shown in
color in the chapter. Because of the large number of terms introduced in this chapter, there are

two quizzes on key terms.

Read each definition below and write the number of the definition in the blank beside the
appropriate term. The first one has been done for you. The quiz solutions appear at the end of
the chapter. When reviewing terminology, come back to your completed key terms quiz. Study

tip: Also check the glossary in the margin or at the end of the book.

Quiz 1: Introduction to Business

Business Nonbusiness entity
Business entity Liability

Sole proprietorship Capital stock
Economic entity concept Stockholder
Partnership Creditor
Corporation 1 Asset

Share of stock Revenue

Bond Expense

A future economic benefit.

A business owned by two or more individuals; the organization form often used by
accounting firms and law firms.

An inflow of assets resulting from the sale of goods and services.

A form of entity organized under the laws of a particular state; ownership evidenced by
shares of stock.

An organization operated for some purpose other than to earn a profit.

An outflow of assets resulting from the sale of goods and services.

An obligation of a business.

A certificate that acts as evidence of ownership in a corporation.

A certificate that represents a corporation’s promise to repay a certain amount of money
and interest in the future.

One of the owners of a corporation.

Someone to whom a company or person has a debt.
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Key Terms Quiz 27

12. The assumption that a single, identifiable unit must be accounted for in all situations.

13. A form of organization with a single owner.

14. Indicates the owners’ contributions to a corporation.

15. All of the activities necessary to provide the members of an economic system with goods
and services.

16. An organization operated to earn a profit.

Quiz 2: Introduction to Accounting

Accounting
Management accounting
Financial accounting
Owners’ equity
Stockholders’ equity
Retained earnings
Balance sheet

Income statement

Net income

Statement of retained earnings
Dividends

Statement of cash flows
Cost principle

Going concern
Monetary unit

Generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP)

Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC)

Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB)

American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA)

Certified Public Accountant (CPA)
Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB)
International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB)

Auditing

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Time period

1. A statement that summarizes revenues and expenses.
2. The statement that summarizes the income earned and dividends paid over the life of a
business.
3. The owners’ equity in a corporation.
4. The process of identifying, measuring, and communicating economic information to
various users.
5. The branch of accounting concerned with the preparation of financial statements for out-
sider use.
6. The owners’ claims on the assets of an entity.
7. The financial statement that summarizes the assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity at a
specific point in time.
8. The part of stockholders’ equity that represents the income earned less dividends paid over
the life of an entity.
9. The branch of accounting concerned with providing management with information to
facilitate planning and control.
10. A distribution of the net income of a business to its stockholders.
11. The various methods, rules, practices, and other procedures that have evolved over time in
response to the need to regulate the preparation of financial statements.
12. Assets are recorded at the cost to acquire them.
13. The federal agency with ultimate authority to determine the rules for preparing statements
for companies whose stock is sold to the public.
14. The assumption that an entity is not in the process of liquidation and that it will continue
indefinitely.
15. The group in the private sector with authority to set accounting standards.
16. The yardstick used to measure amounts in financial statements; the dollar in the United
States.
17.  The professional organization of certified public accountants.
18. An artificial segment on the calendar used as the basis for preparing financial statements.
19. The process of examining the financial statements and the underlying records of a company
to render an opinion as to whether the statements are fairly presented.
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STUDY TIP

At the end of each chap-
ter is a problem to test
your understanding of
some of the major ideas
presented in the chap-
ter. Try to solve the
problem before turning
to the solution that
follows it.
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20. The organization formed to develop worldwide accounting standards.

21. An act of Congress in 2002 intended to bring reform to corporate accountability and
stewardship in the wake of a number of major corporate scandals.

22. The excess of revenues over expenses.

23. The designation for an individual who has passed a uniform exam administered by the
AICPA and has met other requirements as determined by individual states.

24. A five-member body created by an act of Congress in 2002 to set auditing standards.

25. The financial statement that summarizes a company’s cash receipts and cash payments
during the period from operating, investing, and financing activities.

ALTERNATE TERMS

balance sheet statement of financial position ~ net income profits, earnings

cost principle original cost or historical cost stockholder sharcholder

creditor lender stockholders’ equity sharcholders’ equity
income statement statement of income

REVIEW PROBLEM & SOLUTION

Greenway Corporation is organized on June 1, 2017. The company will provide lawn-care and
tree-trimming services on a contract basis. Following is an alphabetical list of the items that
should appear on its income statement for the first month and on its balance sheet at the end of
the first month. (You will need to determine on which statement each should appear.)

Accounts payable $ 800 Lawn-care revenue $1,500
Accounts receivable 500 Notes payable 6,000
Building 2,000 Retained earnings (beginning balance) 0
Capital stock 5,000 Salaries and wages expense 900
Cash 3,300 Tools 800
Gas, utilities, and other expenses 300 Tree-trimming revenue 500
Land 4,000 Truck 2,000
Required

1. Prepare an income statement for the month of June.

2. Prepare a balance sheet at June 30, 2017. Noze: You will need to determine the balance in
Retained Earnings at the end of the month.

3. The financial statements you have prepared are helpful, but in many ways, they are just a
starting point. Assuming that this is your business, what additional questions do the financial
statements raise that you need to consider?

Solution to Review Problem

1. Greenway Corporation
Income Statement
For the Month Ended June 30, 2017

Revenues:

Lawn care $1,500

Tree trimming 500 $2,000
Expenses:

Salaries and wages $ 900

Gas, utilities, and other expenses 300 1,200

Net income $ 800
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2. Greenway Corporation
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2017
Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Cash $ 3,300 Accounts payable $ 800
Accounts receivable 500 Notes payable 6,000
Truck 2,000 Capital stock 5,000
Tools 800 Retained earnings 800
Building 2,000
Land 4,000 Total liabilities and
Total assets $12,600 stockholders’ equity $12,600

3. Following are examples of questions that the financial statements raise:

e During June, 75% of the revenue was from lawn care and the other 25% was from tree
trimming. Will this relationship hold in future months?

e Are the expenses representative of those that will be incurred in the future? Will any
other expenses arise, such as advertising and income taxes?

e  When can we expect to collect the accounts receivable? Is there a chance that not all will
be collected?

e  How soon will the accounts payable need to be paid?

e  What is the interest rate on the note payable? When is interest paid? When is the note
itself due?

EXERCISES

Exercise 1-1 Types of Business Activities LO3
Braxton Corp. was organized on January 1 to operate a limousine service to and from the airport.

For each of the following business activities, indicate whether it is a financing (F), investing (I),

or operating (O) activity.

1. Issued shares of stock to each of the four owners.
Purchased two limousines.

Paid first month’s rent for use of garage.

Obtained loan from local bank.

Received cash from customer for trip to the airport.
Paid driver first week’s wages.

Purchased 500-gallon fuel tank.

AU N o

Exercise 1-2 Users of Accounting Information and Their Needs LOa

Listed below are a number of the important users of accounting information. Following the list
are descriptions of a major need of each of these various users. Fill in each blank with the one user
group that is most likely to have the need described.

Company management Banker
Stockholder Supplier
Securities and Exchange Commission Labor union

Internal Revenue Service

User Group Needs Information About
1. The profitability of each division in the company

2. The prospects for future dividend payments

3. The profitability of the company since the last
contract with the workforce was signed

(Continued)
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EXAMPLE 1-4

LO5
EXAMPLE 1-4

LOS5
EXAMPLE 1-4
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EXAMPLE 1-4
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Needs Information About

4. The financial status of a company issuing securities to
the public for the first time

User Group

5. The prospects that a company will be able to meet its
interest payments on time

6. The prospects that a company will be able to pay for
its purchases on time

7. The company’s profitability based on the tax code

Exercise 1-3 The Accounting Equation
For each of the following independent cases, fill in the blank with the appropriate dollar amount.

Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity
Case 1 $125,000 $ 75,000 $
Case 2 400,000 100,000
Case 3 320,000 95,000

Exercise 1-4 The Accounting Equation

Ginger Enterprises began the year with total assets of $500,000 and total liabilities of $250,000.

Using this information and the accounting equation, answer each of the following independent

questions.

1. What was the amount of Ginger’s owners’ equity at the beginning of the year?

2. If Ginger’s total assets increased by $100,000 and its total liabilities increased by $77,000
during the year, what was the amount of Ginger’s owners’ equity at the end of the year?

3. If Ginger’s total liabilities increased by $33,000 and its owners’ equity decreased by $58,000
during the year, what was the amount of its total assets at the end of the year?

4. If Ginger’s total assets doubled to $1,000,000 and its owners’ equity remained the same dur-
ing the year, what was the amount of its total liabilities at the end of the year?

Exercise 1-5 The Accounting Equation

Using the accounting equation, answer each of the following independent questions.

1. Burlin Company starts the year with $100,000 in assets and $80,000 in liabilities. Net
income for the year is $25,000, and no dividends are paid. How much is owners’ equity at
the end of the year?

2. Chapman Inc. doubles the amount of its assets from the beginning to the end of the year.
Liabilities at the end of the year amount to $40,000, and owners’ equity is $20,000. What is
the amount of Chapman’s assets at the beginning of the year?

3. During the year, the liabilities of Dixon Enterprises triple in amount. Assets at the beginning
of the year amount to $30,000, and owners’ equity is $10,000. What is the amount of liabil-
ities at the end of the year?

Exercise 1-6 Changes in Owners’ Equity

The following amounts are available from the records of Coaches and Carriages Inc. at the end
of the years indicated:

December 31 Total Assets Total Liabilities
2015 $ 25,000 $ 12,000
2016 79,000 67,000
2017 184,000 137,000

Required

1. Compute the changes in Coaches and Carriages owners’ equity during 2016 and 2017.
2. Compute the amount of Coaches and Carriages’ net income (or loss) for 2016 assuming that
no dividends were paid and the owners made no additional contributions during the year.
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3. Compute the amount of Coaches and Carriages’ net income (or loss) for 2017 assuming that
dividends paid during the year amounted to $10,000 and no additional contributions were
made by the owners.

Exercise 1-7 The Accounting Equation LO5
For each of the following cases, fill in the blank with the appropriate dollar amount.
Case 1 Case 2 Case 3 Case 4 H%

Total assets, end of period $40,000 $ $75,000 $50,000

Total liabilities, end of period 15,000 25,000 10,000

Capital stock, end of period 10,000 5,000 20,000 15,000

Retained earnings, beginning of period 15,000 8,000 10,000 20,000

Net income for the period 8,000 7,000 9,000

Dividends for the period 2,000 1,000 3,000
Exercise 1-8 Classification of Financial Statement Items LOS

Classify each of the following items according to (1) whether it belongs on the income statement ~ EXAMPLE 1-3,1-4, 1-5
(IS) or balance sheet (BS) and (2) whether it is a revenue (R), expense (E), asset (A), liability
(L), or stockholders’ equity (SE) item.

Item Appears on the Classified as

Example: Cash BS A
. Salaries expense

. Equipment

. Accounts payable

. Membership fees earned

. Capital stock

. Accounts receivable

. Buildings

. Advertising expense

© 00 NO G A~ WN =

. Retained earnings

Exercise 1-9 Classification of Financial Statement Items LO5

Regal Entertainment Group operates the largest chain of movie theaters in the U.S. Classify ~EXAMPLE 1-5
cach of the following items found in the company’s financial statements included in the Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31, 2015, according to (1) whether it belongs on the income state- ﬁ

ment (IS) or balance sheet (BS) and (2) whether it is a revenue (R), expense (E), asset (A), liability

(L), or stockholders’ equity (SE) item.
REAL WORLD
Item Appears on the Classified as

Example: Cash and cash equivalents BS A
1. Trade and other receivables, net

. Class A common stock

. Inventories

. Admissions

. Cost of concessions
. Equipment

. Accounts payable

. Retained earnings

© 00 NG A~ WN

. Interest expense, net

-
o

. Long-term debt, less current portion
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Exercise 1-10 Net Income (or Loss) and Retained Earnings

The following information is available from the records of Prestige Landscape Design Inc. at the
end of the year:

Accounts payable $ 5,000 Landscaping revenues $25,000
Accounts receivable 4,500 Office equipment 7,500
Capital stock 8,000 Rent expense 6,500
Cash 13,000 Retained earnings, beginning of year 8,500
Dividends paid during the year 3,000 Salary and wage expense 12,000
Required

Use the previous information to answer the following questions.

What is Prestige’s net income for the year?

What is Prestige’s Retained Earnings balance at the end of the year?
What is the total amount of Prestige’s assets at the end of the year?
What is the total amount of Prestige’s liabilities at the end of the year?
How much owners’ equity does Prestige have at the end of the year?
What is Prestige’s accounting equation at the end of the year?

APi> O =

Exercise 1-11 Statement of Retained Earnings

Ace Corporation has been in business for many years. Retained earnings on January 1, 2017, is
$235,800. The following information is available for the first two months of 2017:

January February
Revenues $83,000 $96,000
Expenses 89,000 82,000
Dividends paid 0 5,000

Required
Prepare a statement of retained earnings for the month ended February 28, 2017.

Exercise 1-12 Accounting Principles and Assumptions

The following basic accounting principles and assumptions were discussed in the chapter:

Economic entity
Monetary unit
Cost principle
Going concern
Time period

Fill in each of the blanks with the accounting principle or assumption that is relevant to the
situation described.

1. Genesis Corporation is now in its 30th year of
business. The founder of the company is planning to
retire at the end of the year and turn the business
over to his daughter.

2. Nordic Company purchased a 20-acre parcel of
property on which to build a new factory. The
company recorded the property on the records at
the amount of cash given to acquire it.

3. Jim Bailey enters into an agreement to operate a
new law firm in partnership with a friend. Each
partner will make an initial cash investment of
$10,000. Jim opens a checking account in the name
of the partnership and transfers $10,000 from his
personal account into the new account.
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4. Multinational Corp. has a division in Japan. Prior to
preparing the financial statements for the company
and all of its foreign divisions, Multinational
translates the financial statements of its Japanese
division from yen to U.S. dollars.

5. Camden Company has always prepared financial
statements annually, with a year-end of June 30.
Because the company is going to sell its stock to the
public for the first time, quarterly financial reports
will also be required by the SEC.

Exercise 1-13 Organizations and Accounting LO7

Match each of the organizations listed below with the statement that most adequately describes
the role of the group.

Securities and Exchange Commission g

International Accounting Standards Board
Financial Accounting Standards Board
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

1. The federal agency with ultimate authority to
determine rules used for preparing financial statements
for companies whose stock is sold to the public

2. The group in the private sector with authority to set
accounting standards

3. The professional organization for certified public
accountants

4. The organization formed to develop worldwide
accounting standards

Exercise 1-14 Classification of Items on the Statement of Cash Flows LOS5

Classify each of the following items according to the section on the statement of cash flows in EXAMPLE 1-7
which it should appear: operating (O), investing (I), or financing (F):

Item Section

Example: Cash paid for insurance 0
1. Cash paid for land

2. Cash received from issuance of note

3. Cash paid for dividends

4. Cash received from issuance of capital stock

5. Cash collected from customers

6. Cash paid for income taxes

MULTI-CONCEPT EXERCISES

Exercise 1-15 Users of Accounting Information and the Financial LO4+ 5
Statements

Following are a number of users of accounting information and examples of questions they need
answered before making decisions. Fill in each blank to indicate whether the user is most likely to
find the answer by looking at the income statement (IS), the balance sheet (BS), the statement of
retained earnings (RE), or the statement of cash flows (SCF).

(Continued)
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Financial

User Question Statement
Stockholder How did this year's sales compare to last year's?
Banker How much debt does the company already have on its books?
Supplier How much does the company currently owe to its suppliers?
Stockholder How much did the company pay in dividends this past year?
Advertising account How much did the company spend this past year to generate sales?

manager
Banker What collateral or security can the company provide to ensure that any

loan | make will be repaid?

LO56 Exercise 1-16 Chipotle’s Land
Refer to Chipotle’s balance sheet reproduced in the chapter.

ﬁ Required

In which of the assets would you expect Chipotle’s land to be included? What does this amount

REAL WORLD represent (i.e., cost, market value)? Why does Chipotle carry its land at one or the other values?

PROBLEMS

Loa Problem 1-1 You Won the Lottery

You have won a lottery! You will receive $200,000, after taxes, each year for the next five years.

Required

Describe the process you will go through in determining how to invest your winnings. Consider at
least two options and make a choice. You may consider the stock of a certain company, bonds, real
estate investments, bank deposits, and so on. Be specific. What information do you need to make a
final decision? How will your decision be affected by the fact that you will receive the winnings over
a five-year period rather than in one lump sum? Would you prefer one payment? Explain.

Lo4 Problem 1-2 Users of Accounting Information and Their Needs

Havre Company would like to buy a building and equipment to produce a new product line. In-
formation about Havre is more useful to some people involved in the project than to others.

Required

Complete the following chart by identifying the information listed on the left with the user’s
need to know the information. Identify the information as one of the following;:

a. Need to know
b. Helpful to know
c.  Not necessary to know

User of the Information

Information Management Stockholders Banker

1. Amount of current debt, repayment
schedule, and interest rate

2. Fair market value of the building

3. Condition of the roof and heating and
cooling, electrical, and plumbing systems

4. Total cost of the building, improvements, and
equipment to set up production

5. Expected sales from the new product,
variable production costs, and related selling
costs



Problems

Problem 1-3 Balance Sheet
The following items are available from records of Freescia Corporation at the end of the current year:

Accounts payable $12,550 Notes payable $50,000
Accounts receivable 23,920 Office equipment 12,000
Advertising expense 2,100 Retained earnings, end of year 37,590
Buildings 85,000 Salary and wage expense 8,230
Capital stock 25,000 Sales revenue 14,220
Cash 4,220

Required

Prepare a balance sheet. Hint: Not all of the items listed should appear on a balance sheet. For
each non-balance-sheet item, indicate where it should appear.

Problem 1-4 Corrected Balance Sheet

Dave is the president of Avon Consulting Inc. Avon began business at the beginning of the cur-
rent year. The company’s controller is out of the country on business. Dave needs a copy of the
company’s balance sheet for a meeting tomorrow and asks his assistant to obtain the required in-
formation from the company’s records. She presents Dave with the following balance sheet. He
asks you to review it for accuracy.

Avon Consulting Inc.
Balance Sheet
For the Current Year

Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Accounts payable $13,000 Accounts receivable $16,000

Cash 21,000 Capital stock 20,000

Cash dividends paid 16,000 Net income for the year 72,000

Furniture and equipment 43,000 Supplies 9,000
Required

1. Prepare a corrected balance sheet.
2. Draft a memo explaining the major differences between the balance sheet Dave’s assistant
prepared and the one you prepared.

Problem 1-5 Income Statement, Statement of Retained Earnings, and
Balance Sheet

The following list, in alphabetical order, shows the various items that regularly appear on the fi-
nancial statements of Maple Park Theatres Corp. The amounts shown for balance sheet items are
balances as of September 30, 2017 (with the exception of retained earnings, which is the balance
on September 1, 2017), and the amounts shown for income statement items are balances for the
month ended September 30, 2017.

Accounts payable $17,600 Furniture and fixtures $34,000
Accounts receivable 6,410 Land 26,000
Advertising expense 14,500 Notes payable 20,000
Buildings 60,000 Projection equipment 25,000
Capital stock 50,000 Rent expense—movies 50,600
Cash 15,230 Retained earnings 73,780
Concessions revenue 60,300 Salaries and wages expense 46,490
Cost of concessions sold 23,450 Ticket sales 95,100
Dividends paid during the month 8,400 Water, gas, and electricity 6,700
Required

1. DPrepare an income statement for the month ended September 30, 2017.
2. DPrepare a statement of retained earnings for the month ended September 30, 2017.

(Continued)
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3. DPrepare a balance sheet at September 30, 2017.

4. You have $1,000 to invest. On the basis of the statements you prepared, would you use it to
buy stock in Maple Park? Explain. What other information would you want before making a
final decision?

Problem 1-6 Income Statement and Balance Sheet

Green Bay Corporation began business in July 2017 as a commercial fishing operation and a pas-
senger service between islands. Shares of stock were issued to the owners in exchange for cash.
Boats were purchased by making a down payment in cash and signing a note payable for the bal-
ance. Fish are sold to local restaurants on open account, and customers are given 15 days to pay
their account. Cash fares are collected for all passenger traffic. Rent for the dock facilities is paid at
the beginning of each month. Salaries and wages are paid at the end of the month. The following
amounts are from the records of Green Bay Corporation at the end of its first month of operations:

Accounts receivable $18,500 Notes payable $60,000
Boats 80,000 Passenger service revenue 12,560
Capital stock 40,000 Rent expense 4,000
Cash 7,730 Retained earnings ?
Dividends 5,400 Salary and wage expense 18,230
Fishing revenue 21,300

Required

1. DPrepare an income statement for the month ended July 31, 2017.

2. DPrepare a balance sheet at July 31, 2017.

3. What information would you need about Notes Payable to fully assess Green Bay’s long-term
viability? Explain your answer.

Problem 1-7 Corrected Financial Statements

Hometown Cleaners Inc. operates a small dry-cleaning business. The company has always main-
tained a complete and accurate set of records. Unfortunately, the company’s accountant left in a
dispute with the president and took the 2017 financial statements with him. The following
income statement and balance sheet were prepared by the company’s president:

Hometown Cleaners Inc.
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenues:
Accounts receivable $15,200
Cleaning revenue—cash sales 32,500 $47,700
Expenses:
Dividends $ 4,000
Accounts payable 4,500
Utilities 12,200
Salaries and wages 17,100 37,800
Net income $ 9,900
Hometown Cleaners Inc.
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2017
Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Cash $ 7,400 Cleaning revenue—
Building and equipment 80,000 credit sales $26,200
Notes payable (50,000) Capital stock 20,000
Land 40,000 Net income 9,900

Retained earnings 21,300

Total liabilities and
Total assets $ 77,400 stockholders’ equity $77,400




Multi-Concept Problem

The president is very disappointed with the net income for the year because it has averaged
$25,000 over the last ten years. She has asked for your help in determining whether the reported
net income accurately reflects the profitability of the company and whether the balance sheet is
prepared correctly.

Required

1. Prepare a corrected income statement for the year ended December 31, 2017.

2. Prepare a statement of retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2017. (The actual
balance of Retained Earnings on January 1, 2017, was $42,700. Note that the December
31, 2017, Retained Earnings balance shown is incorrect. The president simply “‘plugged in”’
this amount to make the balance sheet balance.)

3. DPrepare a corrected balance sheet at December 31, 2017.

4. Draft a memo to the president explaining the major differences between the income state-
ment she prepared and the one you prepared.

Problem 1-8 Statement of Retained Earnings for The Coca-Cola
Company

The Coca-Cola Company and Subsidiaries reported the following amounts in various
statements included in its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. (All amounts are
stated in millions of dollars.)

Net income attributable to shareowners of The

Coca-Cola Company for 2015 $ 7,351
Dividends in 2015 5,741
Reinvested earnings, December 31, 2014 63,408
Reinvested earnings, December 31, 2015 65,018

Required

1. DPrepare a statement of retained earnings for The Coca-Cola Company for the year ended
December 31, 2015.

2. The Coca-Cola Company does not actually present a statement of retained earnings in its an-
nual report. Instead, it presents a broader statement of sharcholders’ equity. Describe the in-
formation that would be included on this statement that is not included on a statement of
retained earnings.

Problem 1-9 Information Needs and Setting Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board requires companies to supplement their consolidated
financial statements with disclosures about segments of their businesses. To comply with this
standard, the notes to the financial statements included in Time Warner Inc.’s Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2015 provides various disclosures for the three segments in which
it operates: Turner, Home Box Office, and Warner Bros.

Required

Which users of accounting information do you think the FASB had in mind when it set this
standard? What types of disclosures do you think these users would find helpful?

MULTI-CONCEPT PROBLEM

Problem 1-10 Primary Assumptions Made in Preparing Financial
Statements

Joe Hale opened a machine repair business in leased retail space, paying the first month’s rent of
$300 and a $1,000 security deposit with a check on his personal account. He took the tools,
worth about $7,500, from his garage to the shop. He also bought some equipment to get
started. The new equipment had a list price of $5,000, but Joe was able to purchase it on sale at
Sears for only $4,200. He charged the new equipment on his personal Sears charge card. Joe’s
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first customer paid $400 for services rendered, so Joe opened a checking account for the com-
pany. He completed a second job, but the customer has not paid Joe the $2,500 for his work. At
the end of the first month, Joe prepared the following balance sheet and income statement:

Joe’s Machine Repair Shop
Balance Sheet
July 31,2017

Cash $ 400
Equipment 5,000 Equity $5,400
Total $5,400 Total $5,400

Joe’s Machine Repair Shop
Income Statement
For the Month Ended July 31, 2017

Sales $ 2,900

Rent $ 300

Tools 4,200 4,500
Net loss $(1,600)

Joe believes that he should show a greater profit next month because he won’t have large
expenses for items such as tools.

Required

Identity the assumptions that Joe has violated and explain how each event should have been
handled. Prepare a corrected balance sheet and income statement.

ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

Problem 1-1A What to Do with a Million Dollars?

You have inherited $1 million!

Required

Describe the process you will go through in determining how to invest your inheritance. Con-
sider at least two options and choose one. You may consider the stock of a certain company,
bonds, real estate investments, bank deposits, and so on. Be specific. What information do you
need to make a final decision? Where will you find the information you need? What additional in-
formation will you need to consider if you want to make a change in your investment?

Problem 1-2A Users of Accounting Information and Their Needs

Billings Inc. would like to buy a franchise to provide a specialized service. Information about Bill-
ings is more useful to some people involved in the project than to others.

Required

Complete the following chart by identifying the information listed on the left with the user’s
need to know the information. Identify the information as one of the following;:

a. Need to know

b. Helpful to know

c.  Not necessary to know



Alternate Problems

User of the Information

Information Manager Stockholders Franchisor
1. Expected revenue from the new service

2. Cost of the franchise fee and recurring fees to be paid to the
franchisor

3. Cash available to Billings, the franchisee, to operate the
business after the franchise is purchased

4. Expected overhead costs of the service outlet
5. Billings’ required return on its investment

Problem 1-3A Balance Sheet

The following items are available from the records of Victor Corporation at the end of the cur-
rent year:

Accounts payable $16,900 Delivery expense $ 4,600
Accounts receivable 5,700 Notes payable 50,000
Buildings 35,000 Office equipment 12,000
Butter and cheese inventory 12,100 Retained earnings, end of year 26,300
Capital stock 25,000 Salary and wage expense 8,230
Cash 21,800 Sales revenue 14,220
Computerized mixers 25,800 Tools 5,800
Required

Prepare a balance sheet. Hint: Not all of the items listed should appear on a balance sheet. For
each non-balance-sheet item, indicate where it should appear.

Problem 1-4A Corrected Balance Sheet

Pete is the president of Island Enterprises. Island Enterprises began business at the beginning of
the current year. The company’s controller is out of the country on business. Pete needs a copy
of the company’s balance sheet for a meeting tomorrow and asks his assistant to obtain the
required information from the company’s records. She presents Pete with the following balance
sheet. He asks you to review it for accuracy.

Island Enterprises
Balance Sheet
For the Current Year

Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Accounts payable $ 29,600 Accounts receivable $ 23,200

Building and equipment 177,300 Supplies 12,200

Cash 14,750 Capital stock 100,000

Cash dividends paid 16,000 Net income for the year 113,850
Required

1. Prepare a corrected balance sheet.
2. Draft a memo explaining the major differences between the balance sheet Pete’s assistant
prepared and the one you prepared.

Problem 1-5A Income Statement, Statement of Retained Earnings, and
Balance Sheet

The following list, in alphabetical order, shows the various items that regularly appear on the fi-
nancial statements of Sterns Audio Book Rental Corp. The amounts shown for balance sheet
items are balances as of December 31, 2017 (with the exception of retained earnings, which is

the balance on January 1, 2017), and the amounts shown for income statement items are balan-
ces for the year ended December 31, 2017.

(Continued)
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Accounts payable $ 4,500 Notes payable $ 10,000
Accounts receivable 300 Rental revenue 125,900
Advertising expense 14,500 Rent expense 60,000
Capital stock 50,000 Retained earnings 35,390
Cash 2,490 Salaries and wages expense 17,900
Display fixtures 45,000 Supplies inventory 70,000
Dividends paid during the year 12,000 Wiater, gas, and electricity 3,600
Required

1. DPrepare an income statement for the year ended December 31, 2017.

2. Prepare a statement of retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2017.

3. DPrepare a balance sheet at December 31, 2017.

4. You have $1,000 to invest. On the basis of the statements you prepared, would you use it to
buy stock in this company? Explain. What other information would you want before deciding?

Problem 1-6A Income Statement and Balance Sheet

Fort Worth Corporation began business in January 2017 as a commercial carpet-cleaning and
drying service. Shares of stock were issued to the owners in exchange for cash. Equipment was
purchased by making a down payment in cash and signing a note payable for the balance. Services
are performed for local restaurants and office buildings on open account, and customers are given
15 days to pay their accounts. Rent for office and storage facilities is paid at the beginning of each
month. Salaries and wages are paid at the end of the month. The following amounts are from the
records of Fort Worth Corporation at the end of'its first month of operations:

Accounts receivable $24,750 Equipment $62,000

Capital stock 80,000 Notes payable 30,000

Cash 51,650 Rent expense 3,600

Cleaning revenue 45,900 Retained earnings ?

Dividends 5,500 Salary and wage expense 8,400
Required

1. Prepare an income statement for the month ended January 31, 2017.

2. Prepare a balance sheet at January 31, 2017.

3. What information would you need about Notes Payable to fully assess Fort Worth’s long-
term viability? Explain your answer.

Problem 1-7A Corrected Financial Statements

Heidi’s Bakery Inc. operates a small pastry business. The company has always maintained a com-
plete and accurate set of records. Unfortunately, the company’s accountant left in a dispute with
the president and took the 2017 financial statements with her. The following balance sheet and
income statement were prepared by the company’s president:

Heidi’s Bakery Inc.
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenues:

Accounts receivable $15,500

Pastry revenue—cash sales 23,700 $39,200
Expenses:

Dividends $ 5,600

Accounts payable 6,800

Utilities 9,500

Salaries and wages 18,200 40,100
Net loss $  (900)




Alternate Problems

Heidi’s Bakery Inc.
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2017
Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Cash $ 3,700 Pastry revenue—
Building and equipment 60,000 credit sales $22,100
Notes payable (40,000) Capital stock 30,000
Land 50,000 Net loss (900)
Retained earnings 22,500
Total liabilities and
Total assets $ 73,700 stockholders’ equity $73,700

The president is very disappointed with the net loss for the year because net income has aver-
aged $21,000 over the last ten years. He has asked for your help in determining whether the
reported net loss accurately reflects the profitability of the company and whether the balance
sheet is prepared correctly.

Required

1. Prepare a corrected income statement for the year ended December 31, 2017.

2. DPrepare a statement of retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2017. (The actual
amount of retained earnings on January 1, 2017, was $39,900. The December 31, 2017,
Retained Earnings balance shown is incorrect. The president simply “plugged in” this
amount to make the balance sheet balance.)

3. DPrepare a corrected balance sheet at December 31, 2017.

4. Draft a memo to the president explaining the major differences between the income state-
ment he prepared and the one you prepared.

Problem 1-8A Statement of Retained Earnings for Brunswick
Corporation

Brunswick Corporation reported the following amounts in various statements included in its
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. (All amounts are stated in millions of dollars.)

Net earnings for 2015 $ 2414
Cash dividends paid in 2015 48.3
Retained earnings, December 31, 2014 1,467.3
Retained earnings, December 31, 2015 1,660.4

Required

1. Prepare a statement of retained earnings for Brunswick Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2015.

2. Brunswick does not actually present a statement of retained earnings in its annual report.
Instead, it presents a broader statement of shareholders’ equity. Describe the information that
would be included on this statement that is not included on a statement of retained earnings.

Problem 1-9A Information Needs and Setting Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board requires companies to supplement their consolidated
financial statements with disclosures about segments of their businesses. To comply with this
standard, the notes to the financial statements included in Marriott International’s Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 provides various disclosures for the three
segments in which it operated at that time: North American Full-Service, North American
Limited-Service, and International.

Required

Which users of accounting information do you think the FASB had in mind when it set this
standard? What types of disclosures do you think these users would find helpful?
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ALTERNATE MULTI-CONCEPT PROBLEM

Problem 1-10A Primary Assumptions Made in Preparing Financial
Statements

Millie Abrams opened a ceramic studio in leased retail space, paying the first month’s rent of
$300 and a $1,000 security deposit with a check on her personal account. She took molds and
paint, worth about $7,500, from her home to the studio. She also bought a new firing kiln to
start the business. The new kiln had a list price of $5,000, but Millie was able to trade in her old
kiln, worth $500 at the time of trade, on the new kiln. Therefore, she paid only $4,500 cash. She
wrote a check on her personal account. Millie’s first customers paid a total of $1,400 to attend
classes for the next two months. Millie opened a checking account in the company’s name with
the $1,400. She has conducted classes for one month and has sold $3,000 of unfinished ceramic
picces called greenware. All greenware sales are cash. Millie incurred $1,000 of personal cost in
making the greenware. At the end of the first month, Millie prepared the following balance sheet
and income statement:

Millie’s Ceramic Studio
Balance Sheet

July 31, 2017
Cash $1,400
Kiln 5,000 Equity $6,400
Total $6,400 Total $6,400

Millie’s Ceramic Studio
Income Statement
For the Month Ended July 31, 2017

Sales $4,400

Rent $300

Supplies 600 900
Net income T $3,500

Millie needs to earn at least $3,000 cach month for the business to be worth her time. She is
pleased with the results.

Required

Identity the assumptions that Millie has violated and explain how each event should have been
handled. Prepare a corrected balance sheet and income statement.

DECISION CASES

Reading and Interpreting Financial Statements

Decision Case 1-1 An Annual Report as Ready Reference

Refer to the financial information for Chipotle reproduced at the back of the book and identify
where each of the following users of accounting information would first look to answer their re-
spective questions about Chipotle.

1. Imvestors: How much did the company earn for each share of stock that I own? Were any div-
idends paid, and how much was reinvested in the company?

2. Potential investors: What amount of earnings can I expect to see from Chipotle in the near
future?

3. Suppliers: Should I extend credit to Chipotle? Does it have sufficient cash or cashlike assets
to repay accounts payable?



Decision Cases

4. IRS: How much does Chipotle owe for taxes?
5. Bamkers: What is Chipotle’s long-term debt? Should I make a new loan to the company?

Decision Case 1-2 Reading and Interpreting Chipotle’s Financial
Statements

Refer to the financial statements for Chipotle reproduced in the chapter and answer the follow-
ing questions.

1. What was the company’s net income for 20152

2. State Chipotle’s financial position on December 31, 2015, in terms of the accounting equa-
tion.

3. By what amount did Leasehold improvements, property and equipment, net, increase during
20152 Explain what would cause an increase in this item.

Decision Case 1-3 Comparing Two Companies in the Same Industry:
Chipotle and Panera Bread

Refer to the financial information for Chipotle and Panera Bread reproduced at the back of
the book and answer the following questions.

1. What was the total revenue for each company for the most recent year? By what percentage
did each company’s revenue increase or decrease from its total amount in the prior year?

2. What was each company’s net income for the most recent year? By what percentage did each
company’s net income increase or decrease from its net income for the prior year?

3. What was the total asset balance for each company at the end of its most recent year? Among
its assets, what was the largest asset each company reported on its year-end balance sheet?

4. Did either company pay its stockholders any dividends during the most recent year? Explain
how you can tell.

Making Financial Decisions

Decision Case 1-4 An Investment Opportunity

You have saved enough money to pay for your college tuition for the next three years when a
high-school friend comes to you with a deal. He is an artist who has spent most of the past two
years drawing on the walls of old buildings. The buildings are about to be demolished, and your
friend thinks you should buy the walls before the buildings are demolished and open a gallery fea-
turing his work. Of course, you are levelheaded and would normally say no. Recently, however,
your friend has been featured on several local radio and television shows and is talking to some
national networks about doing a feature on a well-known news show. To set up the gallery would
take all of your savings, but your friend thinks that you will be able to sell his artwork for ten
times the cost of your investment. What information about the business do you need before
deciding to invest your savings? What kind of profit split would you suggest to your friend?

Decision Case 1-5 Preparation of Projected Statements for a New
Business

Upon graduation from MegaState University, you and your roommate decide to start your re-
spective careers in accounting and salmon fishing in Remote, Alaska. Your career as a CPA in
Remote is going well, as is your roommate’s job as a commercial fisherman. After one year in
Remote, he approaches you with a business opportunity.

As we are well aware, the winters are long up here and the locals need a way to stay fit. We
each put up our first year’s savings of $5,000 and file for articles of incorporation with the state of
Alaska to do business as Remote Fitness World. In return for our investment of $5,000, we will
each receive equal shares of capital stock in the corporation. Then we go to Corner National Bank
and apply for a $10,000 loan. We take the total cash of $20,000 we have now raised and buy
$20,000 of exercise equipment from a distributor. We hire a qualified instructor to offer a one-hour
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group fitness class to be offered 15 times each week. We will pay the instructor $20 per hour for
conducting the classes. We charge $10 for each class taken and sell monthly memberships for
unlimited use of the facility for $50. Classes would be paid for on a cash basis, but we would give
customers until the 10th of the following month to pay for a monthly membership. My most con-
servative estimate is that during the first month alone, the total number of classes signed up for will
amount to 240 and we will sell 100 monthly memberships. As I see it, we will have only two
expenses, the hourly wage for the instructor and rent for a vacant building of $1,000 per month,
both payable during the month.

Required

1. Prepare a projected income statement for the first month of operations.

2. DPrepare a balance sheet as it would appear at the end of the first month of operations.

3. Assume that the bank is willing to make the $10,000 loan. Would you be willing to join your
roommate in this business? Explain your response. Also indicate any information other than
what he has provided that you would like to have before making a final decision.

Ethical Decision Making

Decision Case 1-6 Identification of Errors in Financial Statements and
Preparation of Revised Statements

Lakeside Slammers Inc. is a minor league baseball organization that has just completed its first
season. You and three other investors organized the corporation; each put up $10,000 in cash
for shares of capital stock. Because you live out of state, you have not been actively involved in
the daily affairs of the club. However, you are thrilled to receive a dividend check for $10,000 at
the end of the season—an amount equal to your original investment. Included with the check
are the following financial statements, along with supporting explanations:

Lakeside Slammers Inc.
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenues:
Single-game ticket revenue $420,000
Season ticket revenue 140,000
Concessions revenue 280,000
Advertising revenue 100,000 $940,000
Expenses:
Cost of concessions sold $110,000
Salary expense—players 225,000
Salary and wage expense—staff 150,000
Rent expense 210,000 695,000
Net income $245,000
Lakeside Slammers Inc.
Statement of Retained Earnings
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
Beginning balance, January 1, 2017 $ 0
Net income for 2017 245,000
Cash dividends paid in 2017 (40,000)

Ending balance, December 31, 2017 $205,000



Decision Cases

Lakeside Slammers Inc.
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2017
Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Cash $ 5,000 Notes payable $ 50,000
Accounts receivable: Capital stock 40,000
Season tickets 140,000 Additional owners' capital 80,000
Advertisers 100,000 Parent club’s equity 125,000
Auxiliary assets 80,000 Retained earnings 205,000
Equipment 50,000
Player contracts 125,000 Total liabilities and
Total assets $500,000 stockholders’ equity $500,000

Additional information:

a.

b.

Single-game tickets sold for $4 per game. The team averaged 1,500 fans per game. With 70
home games x $4 per game x 1,500 fans, single-game ticket revenue amounted to $420,000.

No season tickets were sold during the first season. During the last three months of 2017,
however, an aggressive sales campaign resulted in the sale of 500 season tickets for the 2018
season. Therefore, the controller (who is also one of the owners) chose to record an Account
Receivable—Season Tickets and corresponding revenue for 500 tickets x $4 per game x 70
games, or $140,000.

Advertising revenue of $100,000 resulted from the sale of the 40 signs on the outfield wall at
$2,500 each for the season. However, none of the advertisers have paid their bills yet (thus,
an account receivable of $100,000 on the balance sheet) because the contract with Lakeside
required payment only if the team averaged 2,000 fans per game during the 2017 season.
The controller believes that the advertisers will be sympathetic to the difficulties of starting a
new franchise and will be willing to overlook the slight deficiency in the attendance
requirement.

Lakeside has a working agreement with one of the major league franchises. The minor league
team is required to pay $5,000 every year to the major league team for each of the 25 players
on its roster. The controller believes that each of the players is an asset to the organization
and has therefore recorded $5,000 x 25, or $125,000, as an asset called Player Contracts.
The item on the right side of the balance sheet entitled Parent Club’s Equity is the amount
owed to the major league team by February 1, 2018, as payment for the players for the 2017
season.

In addition to the cost described in item (d), Lakeside directly pays each of its 25 players a
$9,000 salary for the season. This amount—3$225,000—has already been paid for the 2017
season and is reported on the income statement.

The items on the balance sheet entitled Auxiliary Assets on the left side and Additional
Owners’ Capital on the right side represent the value of the controller’s personal residence.
She has a mortgage with the bank for the full value of the house.

The $50,000 note payable resulted from a loan that was taken out at the beginning of
the year to finance the purchase of bats, balls, uniforms, lawn mowers, and other miscel-
laneous supplies needed to operate the team. (Equipment is reported as an asset for the
same amount.) The loan, with interest, is due on April 15, 2018. Even though the team
had a very successful first year, Lakeside is a little short of cash at the end of 2017 and
has asked the bank for a three-month extension of the loan. The controller reasons,
“By the due date of April 15, 2018, the cash due from the new season ticket holders
will be available, things will be cleared up with the advertisers, and the loan can be
easily repaid.”

Required

Use the Ethical Decision Framework in Exhibit 1-9 to complete the following requirements:

1.

Recognize an ethical dilemma: For each of the items of additional information in (a)
through (g) above, identify any errors you think the controller has made in preparing

(Continued)
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46 Chapter 1 Accounting as a Form of Communication
the financial statements. On the basis of your answers, prepare a revised income state-
ment, statement of retained earnings, and balance sheet. What ethical dilemma(s) do you
now face?

2. Analyze the key elements in the situation:

Who may benefit or be harmed?

How are they likely to benefit or be harmed?
What rights or claims may be violated?

What specific interests are in conflict?

What are your responsibilities and obligations?

oangoe

3. List alternatives and evaluate the impact of each on those affected: As one of the invest-
ors in this organization, what are your options in dealing with the ethical dilemma(s) you
identified in (1) above? Which provides the other investors and the bank with information
that is most relevant, most complete, most neutral, and most free from error?

4. Select the best alternative: Among the alternatives, which one would you select?

LO8 Decision Case 1-7 Responsibility for Financial Statements and the
Role of the Auditor

Financial statements are the means by which accountants communicate to external users. Recent
financial reporting scandals have focused attention on the accounting profession and its role in
the preparation of these statements and the audits performed on the statements.

Required

1. Who is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that are included in a com-
pany’s annual report?

2. Who performs an audit of the financial statements referred to in part (1)?

3. Why is it important for those who are responsible for an audit of the financial statements to
be independent of those who prepare the statements? Explain your answer.

Answers

Answers to Questions

Business is concerned with all the activities necessary to
provide the members of an economic system with
goods and services. Some businesses are organized
to earn a profit, whereas others are organized for
some other purpose. Regardless, all businesses are
organized to provide goods and/or services to their
customers.

An asset is a future economic benefit to a business.
Cash, accounts receivable, merchandise inventories,
and property and equipment are all examples of assets.

A liability is an obligation of a business. Assets and
liabilities are related in that most liabilities are satisfied
by using assets, most often in the form of cash.

The three forms of business entities are sole proprietor-
ships, partnerships, and corporations.



Answers to Apply

When you own a share of stock in a corporation, you are
part owner of that business. In contrast, if you own one
of the corporation’s bonds, you have made a loan to the
company and you are one of its creditors.

Possible personal assets might include checking accounts,
savings accounts, certificates of deposit, money market
accounts, stocks, bonds, mutual funds, and amounts
loaned to family and friends. Possible personal liabilities
might include student loans, car loans, home mortgages,
and amounts borrowed from family and friends.

Answers to Questions

Accounting is a communication process. Its purpose is
to provide economic information about an organization
that will be useful to those who need to make decisions
regarding that entity. For example, information provided
by an accountant about an entity is useful to a banker in
reaching a decision about whether to loan money to a
business.

The two distinct elements of owners’ equity in a corpo-
ration are contributed capital and retained earnings.
Contributed capital, as represented by capital stock, is
the original contribution to the company by the owners.
Retained earnings represents the claims of the owners to
the assets of the business. These claims result from the
earnings of the company that have not been paid out in

dividends.

Answers to Apply

Chipotle’s assets are Cash and cash equivalents;
Accounts receivable; Inventory; Prepaid expenses and
other current assets; Income tax receivable; Investments;
Leasehold improvements, property and equipment;
Long term investments; Other assets; and Goodwill.
Chipotle’s liabilities are Accounts payable; Accrued

Answers to Questions

In the United States, the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (SEC) has ultimate authority for companies
whose securities are sold to the general public. However,
the SEC has relegated much of the standard setting to
the private sector in the form of the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB). Standard setters in the
United States continue to work closely with those in the
international community. However, there are significant
differences between U.S. and international standards; it
may be some time before all differences are eliminated.

Answers 47

The types of activities in which companies engage are fi-
nancing, investing, and operating. To start a new busi-
ness, such as renting bicycles and skis, requires initial
financing, such as initial contributions by the owners and
loans by a bank. Next, the business would need to invest
in the assets it will rent—that is, bicycles and skis. Once
investments in assets are made, the business would earn
revenue by renting out bicycles and skis. The business
would also incur various operating expenses, such as
wages, advertising, and taxes.

A balance sheet should be dated as of a particular day. It
is a statement of financial position and shows the assets,
liabilities, and stockholders’ equity of a business at a par-
ticular point in time. Unlike an income statement, it is
not a flow statement and therefore is not dated for a par-
ticular period of time. Balance sheets are typically pre-
pared to coincide with the end of an accounting period,
such as the end of the month or the end of the year.

An income statement should be dated for a particular
period of time: for example, for the month of June or
for the year ended December 31, 2017. The income
statement is a flow statement because it summarizes rev-
enues and expenses for a period of time. Unlike a bal-
ance sheet, it is not an indication of position at any one
particular point in time.

payroll and benefits; Accrued liabilities; Deferred rent;
Deferred income tax liability; and Other liabilities.

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
$2,725,066,000 = $597,092,000 + $2,127,974,000

The auditors may be in an excellent position to evaluate
a company, but not because they have prepared the fi-
nancial statements. The preparation of the statements is
the responsibility of management. The role of the audi-
tor is to perform various tests and procedures as a basis
for rendering an opinion on the fairness of the presenta-
tion of the statements.

Accountants make the assumption in preparing a set
of financial statements that the dollar is a stable meas-
uring unit. This assumption, called the monetary unit

(Continued)
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assumption, may or may not be accurate, depending on
the level of inflation in the economy. The higher the rate
of inflation, the less reliable is the dollar as a measuring
unit.

4. These are the methods, rules, practices, and other proce-
dures that have evolved over time and that govern the
preparation of financial statements. Two important

Answers to Apply

1. The dollar is the monetary unit used in the United
States, and the yen is used in Japan.

2. Although the Securities and Exchange Commission has
the ultimate authority to determine the rules in prepar-
ing financial statements, it has to a large extent allowed
the accounting profession, through the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, to establish its own rules.
The SEC has at times taken an active role in the setting
of accounting standards. It has stepped in when it has
believed that the profession has not acted quickly
enough or in the correct manner. Since its inception in

Answers to Connect to the Real World

1-1 (p- 16)
Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity
$2,725,066,000 = $597,092,000 + $2,127,974,000
The amount of Chipotle’s cash and cash equivalents at the
end of 2015 is $248,005,000. The amount the company
owes its suppliers is $85,709,000 as shown in the Accounts
Payable account.

Answers to Key Terms Quiz

Quiz 1: Introduction to Business

15  Business

16  Business entity

13 Sole proprietorship

12 Economic entity concept
2

Partnership
4 Corporation
8 Share of stock
9 Bond

Accounting as a Form of Communication

points are worth noting about GAAP. First, these princi-
ples are not static but rather change in response to
changes in the ways companies conduct business. Sec-
ond, there is not a single, identifiable source of GAAP.
Both the private and public sectors have contributed to
the development of generally accepted accounting
principles.

1934, the commission has been more involved in the
enforcement of GAAP as a means of protecting the
rights of investors than it has been in setting standards.

3. The four steps in the model presented in the chapter to
help in making ethical decisions are:

a. Recognize an ethical dilemma.

b. Analyze the key elements in the situation.

c. List alternatives and evaluate the impact of each on
those affected.

d. Select the best alternative.

1-2 (p. 18)

Chipotle’s revenue increased by ($4,501,223,000 -
$4,108,269,000),/$4,108,269,000, or 9.6%. Food, bever-
age and packaging costs increased by ($1,503,835,000 —
$1,420,994,000),/$1,420,994,000, or 5.8%. This means
that management is successfully controlling product costs
relative to the selling prices of those products.

5 Nonbusiness entity
~ 7 Liability

14  Capital stock

10 Stockholder
11 Creditor

1 Asset

3 Revenue
6 Expense




Quiz 2: Introduction to Accounting
4 Accounting

9 Management accounting

5 Financial accounting

6 Owners’ equity

3 Stockholders’ equity

8 Retained earnings

7 Balance sheet

1 Income statement

22 Netincome

2 Statement of retained earnings

10 Dividends

25  Statement of cash flows
12 Cost principle

14  Going concern

16  Monetary unit

18  Time period

11

13

15

17

23
24

20

19
21

Answers

Generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAD)

Securities and Exchange Commission

— (SEC)

Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB)

American Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (AICPA)

Certified Public Accountant (CPA)
Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (PCAOB)

International Accounting Standards

Board (IASB)

Auditing
Sarbanes-Oxley Act
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Financial Reporting
Objectives and
Characteristics of
Useful Information

2

Classified Balance
Sheets

3

Income Statements,
Statements of
Retained Earnings,
and Statements of
Cash Flows

4

Reading and
Using the
Annual Report

Copyr

4 Financial
Statements and

the Annual Report

LO1
LO2

LO3

LO4

LO5

LO6

LO?

LO8

LO9

Describe the objectives of financial reporting.

Describe the qualitative characteristics of account-
ing information.

Explain the concept and purpose of a classified bal-
ance sheet and prepare the statement.

Use a classified balance sheet to analyze a com-
pany’s financial position.

Explain the difference between a single-step and a
multiple-step income statement and prepare each
type of income statement.

Use a multiple-step income statement to analyze a
company’s operations.

Identify the components of the statement of
retained earnings and prepare the statement.

Identify the components of the statement of cash
flows and prepare the statement.

Read and use the financial statements and other
elements in the annual report of a publicly held
company.

.
m LEARNING OBJECTIVES WHY IS THIS CHAPTER IMPORTANT?
r

You need to know what makes a set of financial state-
ments understandable. (See p. 53.)

You need to know how to distinguish a current asset from
a long-term asset and a current liability from a long-term
liability. (See pp. 58—60.)

You need to know how to use the numbers on a
classified balance sheet to measure a company’s liquidity.
(See p. 62.)

You need to know how to use the numbers on an income
statement to measure a company’s profitability.
(See pp. 66-67.)

You need to know how information on a statement of cash
flows can be used to analyze a company. (See pp. 68-69.)

You need to know what useful nonfinancial
information can be found in a company’s annual report.
(See pp. 76-78.)
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MAKING BUSINESS DECISIONS
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PANERA BREAD COMPANY

After learning about Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc. in the
last chapter, you are considering an investment in its stock. But
before investing, you have decided to consider as an alternative one

Exchange Commission (SEC). Compare Panera Bread's revenue to that
for Chipotle in Chapter 1. However, beyond the revenues generated by
each company, you will need to look further before making a decision:

of the company’s competitors in the industry, Panera Bread
Company. Both companies compete for a growing share of the
restaurant business, focused on providing customers the convenience
of a fast-food dining experience combined with wholesome, fresh
ingredients. At the end of 2015 there were 1,972 bakery-cafes in 46
states, the District of Columbia, and Ontario, Canada—very similar to
the number of Chipotle locations.

Look at the Revenue data shown below as they appeared in Panera
Bread's 2015 Form 10-K, the annual report filed with the Securities and

e What does an income statement tell you about each company's

ability to control costs and earn a profit?

What does a balance sheet tell you about each company’s ability
to pay its bills as they come due?

What does a statement of cash flows reveal about each com-
pany's performance that an income statement does not?

Without understanding a company’s financial statements, choosing a
company to invest in is guesswork at best.

Revenues
The following table summarizes revenues for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):

For the fiscal year ended

December 29, December 30, December 31, % Change % Change
2015 2014 2013 in 2015 in 2014
Bakery-cafe sales, net $ 2,358,794 $2,230,370 $2,108,908 5.8% 5.8%
Franchise royalties and fees 138,563 123,686 112,641 12.0% 9.8%
Fresh dough and other product sales to franchisees 184,223 175,139 163,453 52% 7.1%
Total revenue $ 2,681,580 $2,529,195 $2,385,002 6.0% 6.0%
System-wide average weekly net sales $ 48,357 $ 47,655 $ 47,403 1.5% 0.5%

Source: Panera Bread Company: website and Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2015.
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LO1 Describe the objectives of
financial reporting.

Chapter 2 Financial Statements and the Annual Report

FINANCIAL REPORTING
OBJECTIVES AND CHARACTERISTICS
OF USEFUL INFORMATION

A variety of external users need information to make sound business decisions, including
stockholders, bondholders, bankers, and other types of creditors such as suppliers. The
balance sheet, the income statement, and the statement of cash flows, along with the
supporting notes and other information found in an annual report, are the key sources of
information that external users need to make sound business decisions. These statements
are not intended to tell the reader the value of a company, but they should provide infor-
mation that will allow the users to make their own estimates.

How Will I Use ACCOUNTING? e The balance sheet shows what obligations will be due

If you plan to run your own business someday, you need to

in the near future and what assets will be available to

be able to read a balance sheet—to know your equity in the satisfy them.
business, the difference between your assets and liabilities. e The income statement shows the revenues and

Even if you don’t own a business, the same principle
applies to your personal financial condition.

expenses for a period of time.

The statement of cash flows shows where cash came

from and how it was used during the period.

® The notes provide essential details about the company’s accounting policies and
other key factors that affect its financial condition and performance.

In preparing financial statements, accountants consider:

e The objectives of financial reporting.

e The characteristics that make accounting information useful.

®  The most useful way to display the information found in the balance sheet, the
income statement, and the statement of cash flows.

Financial information users are the main reason financial statements are prepared. After all, it is
the investors, creditors, and other groups and individuals outside and inside the company who
must make economic decisions based on these statements. Therefore, as you learned in
Chapter 1, financial statements must be based on agreed-upon assumptions such as time pe-
riod, going concern, and other GAAP. Moreover, when the accountants for companies such
as Panera Bread prepare their financial statements, they must keep in mind financial report-
ing objectives that are focused on providing the most understandable and useful information
possible. Financial reporting has one overall objective and a set of related objectives, all
of them concerned with how the information may be most useful to the readers.

The overall objective of financial reporting is to provide financial information to
permit external users of the information to make informed decisions on whether to
provide resources to the company.' Users include both the management of a company (in-
ternal users) and others not involved in the daily operations of the business (external users).
External users, such as investors and creditors, usually do not have access to the detailed
records of the business or the benefit of daily involvement in the company’s aftairs. They
make decisions based on general-purpose financial statements prepared by management.

You can now see how closely the objective of financial reporting is tied to decision
making. The purpose of financial reporting is to help the users reach their decisions
in an informed manner. What types of information do these users need? How does the
information they need relate to what is reported on financial statements? To answer
these questions, consider the following:

e Investors and Creditors Need Information about Prospective Cash Receipts
INVESTOR: If I buy stock in this company, how much cash will I receive:
e In dividends?
e From the sale of the stock?

' Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts [SFAC] No. 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Chapter 1, “The
Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting” (Norwalk, Conn.: Financial Accounting Standards Board, October 2010).
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Module 1 Financial Reporting Objectives and Characteristics of Useful Information

BANKER: If I lend money to this company, how much cash will I receive:
e Ininterest on the loan?
e When and if the loan is repaid?
¢ The Company Needs Information about Its Own Prospective Cash Flows
Investors, bankers, and other users ultimately care about their cash receipts, but
this depends to some extent on the company’s skills in managing its ow#n cash flows.
¢ The Company Also Needs Information about Its Resources and Claims to
Those Resources
A company’s cash flows are inherently tied to the information on the:
e Balance sheet (assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity).
e Income statement (revenues and expenses).
e Statement of cash flows (operating, investing, and financing activities).

EXAMPLE 2-1 Using Financial Reporting Objectives to Make Investment
Decisions

Assume that you are trying to decide whether to buy stock in Panera Bread. Even though the financial
reporting objectives may seem abstract, think about how they can be used to help make a decision.

Financial Reporting Objectives Potential Investor’s Questions
1. Provide information for decision making. Based on the financial information, should | buy
shares of stock in Panera Bread?

2. Reflect prospective cash receipts to investors ~ How much cash, if any, will | receive in dividends
and creditors. each year and how much from the sale of the stock
of Panera Bread in the future?
3. Reflect prospective cash flows to an After paying its suppliers and employees and
enterprise. meeting all of its obligations, how much cash will
Panera Bread take in during the time | own the stock?
4. Reflect resources and claims to resources. How much has Panera Bread invested in new
restaurants and equipment?

What Makes Accounting Information Useful?
Qualitative Characteristics

Since accounting information must be useful for decision making, what makes it useful?
This section focuses on the qualities that accountants strive for in their financial report-
ing and on some challenges they face in making reporting judgments. It also reveals
what users of financial information expect from financial statements.

Quantitative considerations such as tuition costs certainly were a concern when you chose
your current school. In addition, you made subjective judgments about your college’s gualita-
tive characteristics. Similarly, certain qualities make accounting information useful.

Understandability

For anything to be useful, it must be understandable.

Understandability of financial information varies considerably depending on the user’s
background. For example, should financial statements be prepared so that they are under-
standable by anyone with a college education? Or should it be assumed that all users have
completed at least one accounting course? Is a background in business necessary for a
good understanding of financial reports, regardless of one’s formal training? There are no
simple answers to these questions. However, financial information should be compre-
hensible to those who arve willing to spend the time to undevstand it.

Understandability alone is certainly not enough to render information useful.
According to the FASB, two fundamental characteristics make accounting information
useful. The information must be relevant, and it must be a faithful representation.”

2 Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts [SFACI No. 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Chapter 3,
"Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Accounting Information” (Norwalk, Conn.: Financial Accounting Standards Board,
October 2010).

LO2 Describe the qualitative

characteristics of accounting
information.

Understandability

The quality of accounting
information that makes it
comprehensible to those willing
to spend the necessary time.
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Relevance
The capacity of information to make
a difference in a decision.

Faithful representation

The quality of information that
makes it complete, neutral, and free
from error.

Comparability

For accounting information, the
quality that allows a user to analyze
two or more companies and look for
similarities and differences.

Depreciation

The process of allocating the cost
of a long-term tangible asset over
its useful life.

Consistency

For accounting information, the
quality that allows a user to
compare two or more accounting
periods for a single company.

Chapter 2 Financial Statements and the Annual Report

Relevance
To be useful, information must be relevant.

Relevance is the capacity of information to make a difference in a decision. Sometimes,
information may have predictive value. For example, assume that you are a banker eval-
uating the financial statements of a company seeking a loan. The financial statements
point to a strong, profitable company. However, today’s news revealed that the company
has been named in a multimillion-dollar lawsuit. This information would be relevant to
your talks with the company. Disclosure of the lawsuit in the financial statements would
help you predict whether it would be wise to make a loan to the company.

In other cases, information may have confirming value. For example, assume you
invest in a company because you think it may enter new Asian markets in the near future.
Disclosure in the statements that the company acquired a Chinese subsidiary would
confirm you made the right decision to invest in the company.

Faithful Representation

According to the FASB, information is a faithful representation when it is complete,
neutral, and free from error. Information is neutral when it is not slanted to make a
company’s position look any better or worse than the actual circumstances would
dictate—such as when the probable losses from a major lawsuit are disclosed accurately
in the notes to the financial statements, with all potential effects on the company.

Comparability and Consistency
Comparability allows comparisons to be made between or among companies.

GAAP allow a certain amount of freedom in choosing among alternative treatments for
certain transactions. For example, companies may choose from several methods of
accounting for the depreciation of certain long-term assets. Depreciation is the process
of allocating the cost of a long-term tangible asset, such as a building or equipment, over
its useful life. Each method may affect the value of the assets differently. How does this
freedom of choice affect investors’ ability to compare companies?

Assume that you are considering buying stock in one of three companies. Their an-
nual reports indicate that one company uses the ““accelerated” depreciation method and
the other two companies use the ““straight-line” depreciation method. (We’ll learn about
these methods in Chapter 8.) Does this lack of a common depreciation method make it
impossible to compare the performance of the three companies?

Obviously, comparing these companies would be easier and more meaningful if
all three used the same depreciation method. However, comparisons are not impossi-
ble just because companies use different methods. Certainly, the more uniform state-
ments are in terms of the principles used to prepare them, the more comparable they
will be.

To render statements of companies using different methods more meaningful, disclosure
assumes a very important role. For example, as we will see later in this chapter, the first note
in the annual report of a publicly traded company is the disclosure of its accounting policies.
Disclosure of accounting policies allows the reader to make a subjective adjustment to the
statements of one or more of the companies and thus to compensate for the different depre-
ciation method being used.

Consistency means that financial statements can be compared within a single
company from one accounting peviod to the next. Consistency is closely related to com-
parability. Both involve the relationship between two numbers—comparability between
numbers of different companies (usually for the same period) and comparability between
the numbers of a single company for different periods. However, whereas financial state-
ments are comparable when they can be compared between one company and another,
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statements are consistent when they can be compared within a single company from one
accounting period to the next.

Occasionally, companies decide to change their accounting method. Will it be possible
to compare a company’s earnings in a period in which it switches methods with its earn-
ings in prior years? Wh